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10kg
The current generation 

of hybrid cars each 
require over 10 kgs of 

rare earth metals

Growth markets in renewable 

energy and advanced 

technologies are predicted to 

expand the current 120,000t pa 

rare earth market to 215,000t pa 

by 2020.

the rare  
earth Market: 

 China controls 97% of raw 

material supply through to end 

products. USA, Japan, South 

Korea and the EU want an 

independent RE supply chain  

to reduce strategic risk.

aUGUST 2011

First drill results of resource drilling program  
confirm major rare earth discovery at ngualla

SEPTEMBER 2011

ngualla continues to grow  
on new drill results

Drill results extend  
ngualla again

500kg
A modern 3MW  

wind turbine uses  
about 500kgs of 

neodymium

Wind turbines and hybrid electric vehicles 
Magnets use neodymium, praseodymium and dysprosium for 

permanent rare earth magnets in clean energy applications such 

as hybrid electric vehicles and wind turbines. Magnets represent 

30% of the rare earths market and growing at 10-15% pa. 



Five “Critical Rare Earths” are 

predicted to be in undersupply 

in the years ahead: neodymium,  

dysprosium, europium, terbium and 

yttrium. These five Critical Rare Earths 

are to command significantly higher 

value than other rare earths. 

(US DoE, ‘Critical Materials Strategy’ 
report, December 2011).”

In just 18 months  
Peak has delivered  
the largest and  
highest grade new  
rare earth discovery  
in recent years. 

The Company has 
transformed from 
explorer to  
developer, and is 
targeting production  
in early 2016.

Catalytic converters
Catalysts utilising both lanthanum and cerium 

are used in automotive catalytic converters 

(autocatalysts) to reduce harmful emissions in 

exhaust gases. Catalysts have a 16% share of 

the rare earths market with a forecast growth 

rate of 4% pa.

DECEMBER 2011nOVEMBER 2011OCTOBER 2011

Drill results extend  
ngualla again

Rare earth resource drilling program  
completed on schedule and budget

Drill results confirm ngualla as largest and best 
grade RE discovery of recent years

Continuity of high grade rare  
earth zones confirmed by drilling 

Critical Rare Earths contribute 

the majority of the value from 

Ngualla at 56% of the  

in-ground value. A healthy 

34% of the in-ground value 

at Ngualla is from the Critical 

Rare Earth, neodymium. 

Sm 2%

Y  1%

Gd  2%

Dy  3%

Nd 34%

Ce 19%

Eu 15%
La 11%

Pr 10%

Ngualla relative in-ground value 
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Simplified Ngualla cross section (detail)
(See figure 3 for full cross section)

Weathered Fresh

A maiden Mineral Resource 

estimate was completed in 

February 2012 and is 170 million 

tonnes grading 2.24% of rare 

earth oxides for 3.8 million 

tonnes of contained REO. 

Within this resource there is 

a highly weathered and near 

surface zone estimated at  

40 million tonnes at 4.07% 

REO for 1.6 million tonnes  

of contained REO. 

Ngualla is the fifth 
largest rare earth 
deposit in the world 
outside of China, 
and the highest 
grade of the top 
seven. 

Polishing powders
Polishing Powders use cerium oxide-based powders 

are used to create a finished surface for glass products 

and electrical components including flat glass, optical 

glass, liquid crystal displays (LCDs), silicon wafer 

surfaces for integrated circuits. 

DECEMBER 2011

appointment of Mining Engineer  
Richard Beazley as Managing Director

assays confirm northern zone  
prospectivity for RE, nb-Ta and Phosphate 

JanUaRY 2012

ngualla mineralisation  
extended further to the south

Ngualla Profile: 
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Colluvium

Simplified Ngualla cross section (detail)
(See figure 3 for full cross section)

Weathered Fresh

Ngualla is a high grade deposit 

at surface with favourable 

mineralogy and a simple 

processing route already 

successfully proved. 

The Southern Rare Earth Zone 

at Ngualla has the lowest 

levels of uranium and thorium 

of any large rare earth deposit 

in the world, with just 21ppm 

uranium and 35ppm thorium. 

Lighting and screens 
Phosphors provide a growing market for europium, yttrium and 

gadolinium which exhibit phosphorescence, emitting light on 

exposure to an external source of energy such as electrons or 

ultraviolet light. Demand in this sector is forecast to be 6%-8% pa.

FEBRUaRY 2012

Preliminary sulphuric leach test  
work produces positive results

Final drill results  
received from ngualla

Maiden Mineral Resource announced: 170Mt  
at 2.24% REO, 5th largest deposit in the world

Peak completes acquisition  
of 100% of the ngualla Project

Metallurgical test work has already 

produced a carbonate concentrate 

grading over 50% REO with overall 

process recoveries of 87%. The 

carbonate concentrate contains just 

7ppm uranium and 12ppm thorium.



aPRiL 2012 MaY 2012 JULY 2012

appointment of internal  
Rare Earth Metallurgical Consultant

Major drilling program  
commences at ngualla

Test work confirms viability of  
a sulphuric acid leach process

appointment of Project Manager  
for ngualla Scoping Study
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“ Through provisions 
of employment 
opportunities, training, 
purchase of local 
products and funding 
for local building 
projects, win-win 
relationships are being 
forged with the local 
community.” Social and Environmental  

Responsibility  Page 14
Below: ngualla Exploration 
Team, august 2012



Test work confirms viability of  
a sulphuric acid leach process

Chairman’s  
Report

Dear Shareholder

The past year has seen Peak Resources 
continue with a high level of exploration 
activity within the Ngualla Rare Earth Project 
in Tanzania.  The project has advanced 
rapidly from exploration to one of early 
stage development.  The continuing 
success has lead your company to add new 
complementary skills and depth of experience 
to enable the further advancement of the 
Project with the appointment of mining 
engineer Richard Beazley as Managing 
Director.

Richard brings to the Company a 
broad range of skills in the management of 
mining projects where he has overseen the 
development of a number of projects for 
a broad range of commodities both within 
Australia and overseas.  

On 22nd February the acquisition of 
previous joint venture company Zari was 
completed, giving Peak 100% interest in the 
Ngualla project and securing the benefit of the 
projects considerable upside for shareholders. 
Shortly afterwards, on 29th February, the 
Company achieved another significant 
milestone when it announced a maiden 
Mineral Resource of 170 million tonnes at 
2.24% rare earth oxides (REO). This estimate 
is based on a lower grade cut of 1.0% REO. 
Above a 3.0% REO lower grade cut off the 
deposit contains a higher grade zone of 40 
million tonnes at 4.07% The Ngualla is by 

world standards a significant deposit in terms 
of both tonnage and grade. Mineralisation 
outcrops at surface and is therefore amenable 
to shallow open cut mining with very low strip 
ratios. The deposit also retains considerable 
exploration upside. To bring this project to 
this point in less than two years is not an 
inconsiderable effort and is due mainly to the 
dedication of the Company’s geological staff 
and consultants.

As stated, the project has advanced to 
early stage development with your Company 
currently focussing on three key areas – infill 
drilling, scoping study and the metallurgical 
test work.

The Company in the first six months of 
this calendar year recognised the need to 
increase the tempo of the metallurgical test 
work which forms a critical aspect of the 
development for all rare earth projects. To 
that end the company contracted specialist 
rare earth consultant Gavin Beer to manage 
this function. His efforts have started to show 
considerable promise with several process 
paths providing encouragement. 

The company has also appointed 
mining engineer Lucas Stanfield as the 
Chief Development Officer to manage the 
scoping study amongst other duties and to 
develop the Ngualla Project with the additional 
resources provided by the engagement of 
Emerson Stewart Consulting. 

The 2012 infill drilling program is 
advancing at a satisfactory rate with two drill 
rigs operating on the Southern Rare Earth 
Zone (SREZ). It is the Company’s intention to 
continue to advance the Ngualla Project as 
rapidly as possible with particular emphasis 
on the SREZ.

Results from last season’s drilling further 
highlight the potential of the Northern Zone, 
which shows very good prospectivity for the 
delineation of sizeable deposits of niobium, 
phosphate and tantalum.

Gold exploration 
continued in the Lake 
Victoria Gold Fields 
with some limited 
encouragement from 
the Zari Joint Venture 
tenements. However 
at year’s end it was 
concluded that mineralisation was likely 
to be narrow and erratic and therefore not 
of sufficient size and grade to meet the 
Company’s requirements and on that basis 
Peak withdrew from the joint venture. The 
Company is continuing to evaluate a number 
of other gold opportunities in Tanzania as well 
as several new rare earth projects.

The last twelve months have been 
extremely challenging for world markets and 
have seen considerable uncertainty including 
here in Australia. As stated, the Company 
is committed to continue to advance the 
Ngualla Project into production with particular 
emphasis on the SREZ. That said, the 
Directors of Peak recognise financial risks and 
the implications for ongoing market instability 
and other programs unrelated to the SREZ 
may see reduced or reprioritised scheduling 
expenditure.  Your Directors remain both 
confident and committed to move this project 
forward as rapidly as possible.

On behalf of the Shareholders I would 
like to thank the staff and consultants who, as 
a result of their dedication and commitment 
during the course of this year, have made such 
substantial progress with the Ngualla Project.

 

Alastair Hunter
Non-Executive Chairman
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Review of Operations

Summary of Operations

Figure 1: Peak’s 100% owned Ngualla Project is located in 
southern Tanzania, approximately 120km northwest from the rail 
head in the city of Mbeya.

The maiden Mineral Resource places Ngualla 

as the fifth largest rare earth deposit outside 

of China and importantly the highest grade 

of the seven largest deposits, a significant 

achievement in the 18 months from original 

discovery of the Southern Rare Earth Zone 

(SREZ) in September 2010.

There has also been rapid progress 

made on the development of a metallurgical 

processing flow sheet for the weathered 

portion of the SREZ bastnaesite mineralisation 

that is targeted for first development and 

production. High rare earth leach rates were 

achieved using relatively low cost sulphuric 

acid. After the annual year end on 23rd August 

2012 the Company was pleased to report the 

successful completion of ‘Proof of Concept’ 

work with the production of a 50% rare earth 

carbonate concentrate with an excellent 

overall recovery of 87% via the sulphuric acid 

processing route.

Scoping studies commenced in May 2012 

A resource drilling program consisting of 253 

holes for 19,046m of drilling commenced 

on 24th May 2011 and was completed on 

30th November 2011 at Ngualla, providing 

information to support the maiden Mineral 

Resource estimate.

The drilling identified widespread, high 

grade rare earth mineralisation from surface 

over a wide area in the Southern Rare 

Earth and South West Alluvial Zones. Two 

reconnaissance drill traverses were also 

completed in the Northern Zone, confirming 

an additional large, high quality exploration 

target for niobium, tantalum, phosphate and 

rare earths that is as yet only sparsely tested.

The acquisition of 100% of the Ngualla 

Project with no trailing royalties or participation 

rights by the previous licence holders was 

completed in late February 2012. This was 

closely followed by the announcement of the 

maiden Mineral Resource estimate for Ngualla 

on 29th February.

the year saw several sigNificaNt 

MilestoNes reached oN or Before 

schedule, with the Ngualla 

rare earth Project iN southerN 

taNzaNia coNtiNuiNg to exceed 

exPectatioNs. as a result of the 

success achieved at Ngualla, 

exPeNditure oN other Projects 

was reduced.
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with the appointment of Perth based Emerson 

Stewart Consulting Group Ltd and mining 

engineer Lucas Stanfield. The study will be 

completed by year end 2012 and will provide 

a preliminary economic assessment of the 

rare earth project. In addition to the mixed 

rare earth carbonate product, the study will 

also include estimates for a solvent extraction 

separation plant to produce a range of higher 

value, high purity rare earth products.

Drilling operations recommenced on site 

on 24th May 2012 after the end of the rainy 

season. The current drilling program will 

provide information and samples for use in 

feasibility studies, metallurgical optimisation 

work and a revised resource estimate during 

the coming year.

Pilot plant operations and project 

feasibility studies are scheduled to commence 

in 2013 to fast track the Ngualla Rare Earth 

Project into production by early 2016.

Ngualla Rare Earth Project

Block Model REO% 

A 1 to 2%

A 2 to 3%

A >3%

!	 Drill holes 
A Bastnaesite Zone

OPEN OPEN

OPEN

Pe
rim

et
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 of Carbonatite

Northern Zone

South West  Alluvials

550m

 Mt Mapuma

Bastnaesite Zone Southern Rare Earth Zone
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rim

et
er
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ar
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tite

Figure 2: Maiden Mineral Resource block model coloured by 
REO % grade and drill holes (as at maiden Mineral Resource, 
29th February 2012) on satellite image draped over topography, 
Ngualla Carbonatite.

The Ngualla Project in southern Tanzania  

continued to be the focus of Peak’s 

operational activities during the year with 

highly encouraging results produced from 

drilling and metallurgical test work. This virgin 

rare earth discovery is centred on the Ngualla 

Carbonatite, a roughly circular volcanic pipe 

with a diameter of approximately 3.8km.

Scoping studies have commenced to 

provide a preliminary economic assessment  

of the project by December 2012, focussing 

on initial production from the higher grade, 

near surface, weathered portion of the 

bastnaesite core of the Southern Rare Earth 

Zone by  

early 2016.

 

Above: Drill pads on Ngualla Hill, the northern half of the 
Southern Rare Earth Zone, May 2012 The sparsely tested 
Northern Zone lies in the distance on the right of the photo view.
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200 to 500ppm Ta2O5  / +20% phosphate

1 to 2% REO / 0.5 to 1% Nb2O5 / 
200 to 500ppm Ta2O5  / +20% phosphate

Weathered
>3% REO

Ferricrete

Alluvium

Ngualla Hill

Bastnaesite Zone

(Bastnaesite and Monazite)

Monazite Zone

SW Alluvials

200m1000 50

Fresh

700m
Primary REO mineralisation

Ferro-CarbonatiteCalcite Carbonatite Calcite CarbonatiteTransitional
Carbonatite

Transitional
Carbonatite

Fresh
1 to 2% REO

Fresh Fresh Fresh

Ultramafic

Residual apatite-magnetite

Weathered

The maiden JORC compliant Mineral 

Resource for Ngualla was announced on 29th 

February 2012 and ranks as the fifth largest 

rare earth deposit in the world outside of 

China and importantly the highest grade of the 

seven largest deposits.

The Mineral Resource estimate at a 1.0% 

lower grade cut-off for the combined Southern 

Rare Earth and South West Alluvial Zones is 

170 million tonnes at 2.24% REO*, for 3.8 

million tonnes of contained REO.  

(*REO= total rare earth oxides plus Y2O3. 

See Table 1 for classification details)

Using a 3.0% lower grade cut, the total 

resource includes a higher grade near surface 

zone of 40 million tonnes at 4.07% REO for 

1.6 million tonnes of contained REO.

The maiden Mineral Resource is a major 

milestone, transforming the Company from an 

explorer to a developer. It is also a significant 

achievement made in just 18 months from 

original discovery of the Southern Rare Earth 

Zone (SREZ) in September 2010.

Ngualla has several fundamental 

geological aspects that offer distinct 

advantages for development over other rare 

earth projects. These include the large size 

of the deposit, the outcropping, high grade 

Maiden Mineral Resource

Drilling operations continued at Ngualla to 

30th November 2011 with a total of 253 holes 

for 19,046m completed during 2011. The 

majority of holes were located in the Southern 

Rare Earth and South West Alluvial Zones 

(Figures 2 and 3) to provide the data required 

for a maiden rare earth Mineral Resource 

estimate. Two reconnaissance traverses 

were also completed to provide an initial 

assessment of the exploration potential for 

niobium, tantalum phosphate and rare earths 

in the Northern Zone (see ‘Exploration Upside’ 

page 13).

Table 1: Classification of Mineral Resources for the Ngualla Rare Earth Project, 1.0% and 3.0% REO cut-off grades (Feb 2012). 

Lower cut – off  
grade

JORC Resource  
Category

Tonnage  
(Mt)

REO  
(%)*

Contained  
REO tonnes

1.0% REO

Measured 29 2.61 750,000

Indicated 69 2.43 1,700,000

Inferred 72 1.92 1,400,000

TOTAL 170 2.24 3,800,000

3.0% REO

Measured 11 3.99 430,000

Indicated 21 4.09 850,000

Inferred 8.7 4.11 360,000

TOTAL 40 4.07 1,600,000

*REO (%) includes all the lanthanide elements plus yttrium oxides. Figures above may not sum precisely due to rounding. The number of significant figures does not imply an added level of precision. 
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mineralisation amenable to open cut mining 

with low strip ratios (Figure 4), favourable 

mineralogy for processing and the lowest 

uranium and  

thorium levels of any major rare earth deposit  

in the world.

Figure 3: Schematic section through the Ngualla Carbonatite illustrating the geological setting of mineralisation styles. Note 2x’s vertical exaggeration. 

Figure 4: Perspective view of Ngualla Mineral Resource block model (+1% REO) sliced in a south westerly orientation, looking northwest, showing near surface, high grade mineralisation on Ngualla 
Hill (the SREZ) shedding down into the South West Alluvial Zone.

Ngualla Hill
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REO %: 
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Ngualla has a healthy proportion of 

Critical Rare Earths (CREO’s) – the higher 

value elements forecast to be in critical 

undersupply from 2015. Over 56% of the in 

ground rare earth value at Ngualla is derived 

from these five critical rare earths. Neodymium 

is the main single rare earth value driver, 

contributing 34% of the total in ground value 

(relative rare earth oxide prices: Metal Pages, 

11th September 2012).

Ngualla contains a higher content of 

these important elements than many so called 

‘heavy rare earth’ projects due to Ngualla’s 

significantly higher overall grade.
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OPEN

OPEN
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OPEN 
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Diamond core NDD006: 

Figure 5: Portion of drill hole cross section 9,148,000mN showing enriched REO grades in weathered 
zone above irregular karstic profile and fresh rock. 

Metallurgical Test work

Sulphuric Acid Leach Variability

The presence of bastnaesite within highly 

weathered, carbonate poor, near surface high 

grade mineralisation offers the opportunity to 

use simple sulphuric acid leach processes 

to produce an initial rare earth carbonate 

concentrate product.

Metallurgical variability test work was 

completed on 38 samples of weathered 

mineralisation from across the Southern Rare 

Earth Zone (Figure 6) to quantify the effect 

of variable mineralogy on rare earth leach 

extraction rates using sulphuric acid. 

The results, some of which were 

reported in July 2012 just after period end, 

are encouraging with 23 of the 38 samples 

returning leach extraction rates of greater than 

75% at an average of 87%. Importantly, the 

samples returning lower rare earth extraction 

levels lie outside the initially targeted 

bastnaesite rare earth zone or are superficial 

gravel that contains slightly elevated levels of 

phosphate. Mineralogical studies confirmed 

that the slightly refractory samples contain 

Mineralogical studies completed during 

the year identified bastnaesite (a rare earth 

carbonate) as the main rare earth mineral 

within both fresh and weathered rock in the 

core of the Southern Rare Earth Zone over 

an area of approximately 750m x 700m. 

This central zone is surrounded by a mixed 

bastnaesite - monazite (rare earth phosphate) 

mineralogy.

The favourable rare earth carbonate 

mineralogy and absence of phosphatic 

minerals such as apatite contribute to the 

lowest uranium and thorium levels of any  

major rare earth deposit in the world at just 

21ppm uranium and 35ppm thorium.

Mineralogy

Metallurgy is a key driver for development 

time, capital and operating costs for rare earth 

projects. Metallurgical process routes differ 

between projects and are determined by the 

mineralogy of the host rock and rare earth 

minerals.

The resource drilling completed across 

the Southern Rare Earth Zone in 2011 

identified a highly variable karstic weathering 

profile above fresh rock carbonatite. Fresh 

rock contains primary rare earth mineralisation 

in the 1 to 2.5% REO range. The weathered 

zone, which varies from zero to 140m vertical 

depth, is comprised predominantly of iron 

oxide and barite (Figure 5). The weathered 

zone is preferentially enriched in rare earths 

between 3 to 8% REO, primarily due to the 

almost complete removal of carbonate 

minerals during the weathering process. 
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Figure 6: Plan view of Ngualla Mineral Resource block model (+3% REO) showing location of acid leach variability samples, acid leach extraction rates and zonation of rare earth mineralogy in the SREZ.

65% cerium oxide concentrate.   

50.3% REO high grade rare earth carbonate . 

some monazite, a phosphatic rare earth 

mineral that is less easily leached in sulphuric 

acid.

These results are encouraging and 

indicate that a large part of the higher grade, 

near surface weathered mineralisation at 

Ngualla is amenable to the sulphuric acid 

leach process being developed.

Metallurgical flow sheet development

Test work to develop a sulphuric acid 

leach process for Ngualla commenced 

on a representative bulk composite of 

weathered mineralisation during the latter 

half of the 2011/12 reporting year under the 

management of recently appointed in house 

metallurgical specialist Gavin Beer.

Highly encouraging results were reported 

just after the financial year end in July and 

August 2012 and successfully demonstrated 

a simple metallurgical flow sheet to produce 

a high grade, high purity rare earth carbonate 

concentrate.

Below: Photographs of the high grade rare earth concentrates 
produced by the “Proof of Concept” metallurgical test work.

The ‘Proof of Concept’ test work was 

completed at Nagrom Laboratories in Western 

Australia on a composite sample grading 

3.6% REO collected from 25 x two metre drill 

intervals from six RC drill holes within the 

Southern Rare Earth Zone.

During the test work it was possible to 

selectively remove the cerium at an early 

stage, producing a separate high grade 

concentrate of 65% cerium oxide (Figure 6). 

Subsequent processing of the remaining 

sample produced a cerium depleted (and 

therefore potentially higher value) rare earth 

carbonate product grading 50.3% REO  

(see Photo below) with an overall total 

process recovery from feed to rare earth 

product of 87%.

The removal of the majority of lower 

value cerium at the early stage provides 

additional options in terms of products for 

further processing or sale and reduces the 

size of plant required for later stages of the 

hydrometallurgical process. 
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now lead the Scoping Study to identify that 

the optimum approach for Ngualla is to focus 

initial production from the highest grade, near 

surface weathered bastnaesite mineralisation 

within the core of the SREZ, and processing 

via the sulphuric acid and precipitation route 

into a mixed, cerium depleted rare earth 

carbonate concentrate.

The study will also include estimates for 

a solvent extraction (SX) separation plant to 

produce a range of higher value, high purity 

rare earth products.

The Scoping Study is progressing 

well with a number of site visits completed 

including communication with Tanzanian 

Government Departments, potential suppliers, 

consultants and contractors and is on track 

for completion on schedule and budget in 

December 2012.

The Company has an accelerated 

development schedule for Ngualla compared 

to many other rare earth projects with first 

production of rare earth concentrate product 

planned for early 2016. Key indicative 

milestones are set out in Table 2. 

Scoping Study

Peak commenced the Ngualla Project 

Scoping Study in May 2012 with the 

appointment of engineer Lucas Stanfield 

as Chief Development Officer, Perth based 

Emerson Stewart Consulting Group as 

infrastructure and environmental engineering 

consultants, Hatch as process engineering 

consultants and Orelogy Pty Ltd as mining 

consultants to the study. The study is to 

determine the optimum pathway to rare 

earth production and provide a preliminary 

economic assessment of the Project.

The base case for the Scoping Study 

assumes a range of rare earth products 

containing a total of 10,000 tonnes of REO 

equivalent will be produced from an estimated 

300,000 tonnes of ore at an average grade 

of approximately 4.3% REO annually over 

an initial mine life of 25 years. The Mineral 

Resource has potential to support a significant 

increase to this base case production rate 

should off take customers for additional 

product be secured.

The positive results from the ‘Proof of 

Concept’ sulphuric acid leach process has 

Metallurgical work is now in progress 

to further optimise this acid leach and 

precipitation process. Additional test work is 

also scheduled to further refine the rare earth 

carbonate concentrate to produce up to five 

high purity rare earth oxide products for the 

world market, consisting of:

•  Lanthanum Oxide

•  Cerium Oxide

•   Didymium Oxide  

(praseodymium and neodymium)

•   SEG Oxide 

(samarium, europium and gadolinium)

•  Heavy Rare Earth Oxide 

(residual HREO including yttrium)

The successful production of these five 

high purity rare earth oxide products (Figure 7) 

using a solvent extraction process will provide 

the company with further benefits to the mixed 

carbonate concentrate already produced in 

terms of product value and available markets.

Simplified Sulphuric Acid Leach Process and SX Separation

Leach
Feed  

4.3% REO

5  
High Purity  

Oxide  
Products

Cerium  
Oxide
65%

    Sulphuric 
Acid Leach

   Primary  
Precipitation

   Carbonate  
Precipitation

   Cerium  
Removal Purification

Oxidation

SX 
Separation

Rare Earth 
Carbonate 
Product  

50% REO

Lanthanum Oxide 

Cerium Oxide

Didymium Oxide 

SEG Oxide

Heavy Rare Earth Oxide

Figure 7: Simplified process route for Ngualla bastnaesite 
mineralisation into three product streams:  
a) 5 refined high purity REO products  
b) mixed rare earth carbonate and  
c) cerium concentrate

Table 2: Indicative Development Schedule

Completion of Scoping Study December 2012

Construction of Pilot Plant completed February 2013

Updated Mineral Resource estimate March 2013

Commence Pre-Feasibility Study Quarter 1 2013

Commence Definitive Feasibility Study Quarter 1 2014

Commence mine and processing plant construction 2015 

First production Early 2016
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 Exploration Upside

Southern Rare Earth Zone:

There is potential for extensions to the maiden 

Mineral Resource in the Southern Rare Earth 

Zone. Rare earth mineralisation remains open 

to the south, in some areas to the west and 

also at depth over an area of approximately 

600m x 450m, where the deposit is currently 

drill tested to an average of just 120m from 

surface (Figure 3). Drilling commenced in May 

2012 to infill the area of the Maiden Resource 

but also to provide data in these areas of 

potential extensions, for a revised Mineral 

Resource estimate that is scheduled for 

completion around the end of the 1st quarter 

2013.

Figure 8: Artist’s impression of Ngualla on-site processing plant 

Northern Zone

Located approximately one kilometre to the 

north of the SREZ and covering an area of 

1 km x 1 km, the Northern Zone (Figure 2) 

has potential for large additional deposits 

of niobium – tantalum, rare earths and 

phosphate.

Surface sampling has identified 

anomalism in all these elements over this 

area and widespread mineralisation has 

been confirmed in weathered bedrock by two 

wide spaced reconnaissance drill traverses 

completed in November 2011.

Best intersections in each of these 

commodities from the drilling completed in  

the Northern Zone to date are:

Niobium – Tantalum:

NRC140:  

119m at 0.71% Nb2O5 and 162ppm Ta2O5 

from surface to EOH including:

18m at 1.16% Nb2O5 and 266ppm Ta2O5 

from surface and

22m at 1.32% Nb2O5 and 206ppm Ta2O5 

from 50m

Phosphate:

NRC154: 

58m at 21.1% phosphate from 4m

Rare Earths

NRC140:   

66m at 1.56% REO from 10m

(See Tables 3 to 5 for details)

Test work has commenced to identify 

a suitable beneficiation and metallurgical 

processing route for this second style of 

mineralisation at Ngualla.
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Social and Environmental Responsibility

Top row: Construction of new classrooms at Ngualla Primary School, October 2011.  
Above: Project Manager Patrick Ochieng and Logistics Manager Ismail Hassan handing 
over school books at Ngualla Primary School, 2012. 

New desks and blackboard in one of the classrooms at 
Ngualla Primary School.

    

Peak Resources funded the building of a 

new classroom and made improvements to 

4 existing classrooms at the local Ngualla 

Primary School. New floors and desks were 

installed and the classrooms were repainted. 

In addition, the company has assisted with 

maintenance of the Ngualla village water 

system, the new village airstrip and access 

road.

Peak Resources is committed to improving 

the communities in which it operates whilst 

maintaining best practice environmental 

management. Through provisions of 

employment opportunities, training, purchase 

of local products and funding for local 

building projects, win-win relationships are 

being forged with the local community.

Peak Resources has been working alongside AAMIG to ensure  
the communities we touch benefit from our partnership. 

Projects during the year include the building 

of teacher’s houses in Ngualla village, and the 

provision of school books for three primary 

schools in the region.
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Competent Person Statement

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is based on information compiled and/or reviewed by David Hammond who is 

a Member of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. David Hammond is the Technical Director of the Company. He has sufficient 

experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify 

as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore 

Reserves”. David Hammond consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.

The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by Rob Spiers, who is a member of The 

Australasian Institute of Geoscientists. Rob Spiers is an employee of geological consultants Hellman and Schofield Pty Ltd. Rob Spiers has sufficient 

experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify 

as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore 

Reserves’. Rob Spiers consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.

Ngualla Project Drill hole detail for intersections reported in text.

All Tables: Analysis by SGS laboratory, Perth, by 4 acid digest and ICP or XRF. Co-ordinate system is Arc 1960 UTM zone 36S.  

Samples are 2m composites from angled -60º west RC drilling. 

Table 3: Northern Zone – Rare Earth RC drill intersection details, +1% REO

Hole ID East North Hole Depth (m) From (m) To (m) Interval (m) REO %

NRC140 482,079 9,149,203 120 0 2 2 1.20
10 76 66 1.56
80 96 16 1.35

Note:  REO = Total Rare Earth Oxides including yttrium. See Table 5 for relative distribution of individual rare earth oxides. Intersection calculated using 1% REO lower cut and a maximum of 2m internal 
dilution. 

Table 4: Northern Zone – Niobium - Tantalum RC drill intersection details, +0.25% niobium oxide

Hole ID East North Hole Depth  
(m)

From  
(m)

To  
(m)

Interval  
(m)

Nb2O5 

%
Ta2O5 

ppm

NRC140 482,079 9,149,203 120 0 119 119* 0.71 162

(Incl. 0 18 18 1.16 266

and 50 72 22 1.32 206)

Note:  Intersection calculated using a 0.25% Nb2O5% lower cut and a maximum of 2m internal dilution.

Table 5: Northern Zone – Phosphate RC drill intersections, >10% phosphate

Intersections with a minimum width of 8m at >10% phosphate are reported.

Hole ID East North Hole Depth (m) From (m) To (m) Interval (m) P2O5 %

NRC154 482,482 9,149,598 68 4 62 58 21.1

Note: Intersection calculated using 10% phosphate lower cut and a maximum of 2m internal dilution. 

Table 6: Relative components of individual REO’s (including yttrium) as a percentage of total REO at Ngualla (> 1% REO) compared 

to other large rare earth deposits.

RARE EARTHS CONTENT (% OF TOTAL REO)

 
NGuALLA 

%
NOLANs BORE 

%
MOuNTAIN PAss  

%
BAIyuNEBO  

%
MT WELD CLD 

%

Li
gh

t R
E

Lanthanum 27.1 19.1 33.2 27.1 23.9

Cerium 48.3 48.7 49.1 49.9 47.6

Praseodymium 4.74 5.93 4.34 5.15 5.16

Neodymium 16.3 20.5 12.0 15.4 18.1

Samarium 1.65 2.30 0.80 1.15 2.44

Europium 0.35 0.39 0.12 0.19 0.53

H
ea

vy
 R

E

Gadolinium 0.78 0.99 0.17 0.40 1.09

Terbium 0.07 0.08 - - 0.09

Dysprosium 0.17 0.32 - 0.30 0.25

Other 0.10 0.21 0.16 0.03 0.12

Other Yttrium 0.52 1.35 0.10 0.20 0.76

Total % 100 100 100 100 100

Source: Arafura Website and *= Ngualla Mineral Resource >1% REO.
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Directors’ Report
The directors of Peak Resources Limited submit herewith the financial statements of the Company for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2012. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors Report as follows: 

directors

The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during and since the financial year end until the date of the report are as 

follows.  Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated.

Mr Alastair Hunter  Non-Executive Chairman

Mr Richard Beazley Managing Director (appointed 16 January 2012)

Mr David Hammond Technical Director 

Mr Jonathan Murray Non-Executive Director  

Information On Directors

Mr Alastair M Hunter 

Non-Executive Chairman

Mr Hunter has in excess of forty years’ experience in exploration and management of resource companies.  

During this period, he has played a significant role in a number of base metal, gold and uranium discoveries.   

Mr Hunter was formerly a director of Peninsula Minerals NL, Matlock Mining NL and Anglo Australian Resources 

NL.  His experience extends to working throughout Australia, Africa as well as North America. Mr Hunter does 

not hold directorships in other listed companies.

Mr Richard Beazley 

Managing Director  

Appointed 16 January 2012 

Mr Beazley is a mining engineer with more than 25 years’ experience in the resources sector who has held 

management and executive roles with a range of companies operating throughout Australia including 

Consolidated Minerals, St. Barbara Limited, Aditya Birla Minerals Limited, Henry Walker Eltin Contracting Pty Ltd 

and Sons of Gwalia. Mr Beazley does not hold directorships in other listed companies.

Mr Beazley’s background is strongly operational with his previous role as the General Manager of Operations for 

Consolidated Minerals responsible for the Groups manganese, chromite and nickel operations. Consolidated 

Minerals is an international business with significant manganese reserves in Australia and Ghana.

Mr David Hammond MSc in Mineral Exploration, BSc (Hons), MAusIMM

Technical Director

Mr David Hammond has over 22 years technical and management experience.   

Mr Hammond was previously the Exploration Manager with De Grey Mining Limited working on projects in the 

Pilbara and new project acquisitions globally.  His previous experience also includes Exploration Manager for 

Sons of Gwalia in NE Goldfields in Western Australia and Project Geologist with Billiton/Gencor in South Africa 

and Zambia in a range of commodities and geological deposit styles. Mr Hammond does not hold directorships 

in other listed companies.

Mr Jonathan Murray Bachelor Laws and Commerce

Non-Executive Director

Mr Murray is a partner at independent corporate law firm Steinepreis Paganin, based in Perth, Western Australia.  

He specialises in equity capital raisings, all forms of acquisitions and divestments, governance and corporate 

compliance.

Mr Murray graduated from Murdoch University in 1996 with a Bachelor of Laws and Commerce (majoring in 

Accounting).  He is also a member of FINSIA (formerly the Securities Institute of Australia). Mr Murray is a non-

executive director of Highfield Resources Limited, Hannans Reward Limited and Kalgoorlie Mining Company 

Limited.
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Company Secretary

The following person has held the position of company secretary during or at the end of the financial year:

Farlee Walker 

Company Secretary – appointed 14 August 2012

Ms Walker is an experienced Chartered Accountant and Company Secretary with a background in external audit, specialising in 

exploration, mining and resources, and ASX compliance gained while working for Ernst & Young and the ASX Limited respectively. 

Employed by Mining Corporate Pty Ltd, Ms Walker provides financial accounting and company secretarial services to  listed entities, 

and was appointed as CFO and Company Secretary of Peak subsequent to the end of the financial year, on 14 August 2012.

Linda Paini B Bus (Accounting), CPA

Company Secretary – resigned 14 August 2012

Ms Paini is a Certified Practising Accountant and holds a Bachelor of Business degree from the Edith Cowan University. She has more 

than 15 year’s accountancy experience, and corporate secretarial experience, with a focus in the last 6 years in the resource sector. Ms 

Paini has previously provided company secretary support for a number of listed corporations.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Group during the year was exploration and evaluation of mineral licences. There were no significant changes 

in the nature of the Company’s principal activities during the financial year.

operating results

The loss of the Company after providing for income tax amounted to $5,297,738 (2011: loss $2,241,059).

The basic and diluted loss per share for the Group for the year was 3.01cents (2011: 1.71 cents)

financial Position

The net assets of the Group have increased from $11,338,867 at 30 June 2011 to $28,254,972 at 30 June 2012. This is largely the result 

of acquisition of 100% of Zari and accordingly its exploration assets during the financial year.

The Group’s working capital, being current assets less current liabilities, was $2,422,467 at 30 June 2012 (2011: $6,848,684).

dividends Paid or recommended

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no amount has been paid or declared by way of a dividend to the date 

of this report.

review of operations

The review of group’s operations is included in pages 6 through 19 of this annual report.

significant changes in state of affairs

Other than detailed in the Review of Operations above there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company, during 

the financial year.

after Balance date events

On 27 July 2012 the company announced that it was undertaking a placement of 32.3 million shares at $0.17 to sophisticated investors 

and clients of Shaw Corporate Finance Pty Ltd and Blue Ocean Equities Pty Ltd raising $5.5 million before costs. Subscribers to the 

placement were issued to 1 free option for every share allotted.

The placement was completed in two tranches. Tranche 1 was completed on 6 August 2012 and 15,529 822 shares and 15,529,822 

options have been allotted to raise $2.64 million before costs. The shares were issued under the Peak’s 15% capacity rule Tranche 2 of 

16.8 million shares and 16.8 options was issued following shareholder approval at a General Meeting of the company scheduled on 10 

September 2012 to raise approximately $2.86 million. Tranche 1 was ratified at this same meeting.

The company also offered to existing shareholders an opportunity to participate in a Share Purchase Plan (SPP) where shareholders 

were able to subscribe up to $15,000 worth of shares at 17 cents to raise $2.60m before costs. For every share allotted a free attaching 

listed option was issued, was approved by shareholders at the General Meeting. 15.3 million shares and options were issued.

The options (ASX:PEKO) are listed and are exercisable at $0.25 on or before 31 July 2014. 

 

Directors’ Report
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Directors’ Report

Meetings of directors

The number of meetings attended by each Director of the Company during the financial year was:

Board Meetings Remuneration Committee Meetings

Number held and  
entitled to attend

Number attended Number held and  
entitled to attend

Number attended

Alastair Hunter 4 4 - -

Richard Beazley 2 2 - -

David Hammond 4 4 - -

Jonathan Murray 4 4 - -

Note – no Audit Committee Meetings were held during the year as the function of the audit committee was dealt with by the full Board.

equity holding of directors

As at the date of this report, the directors’ interest in the company were:

Equity shares Equity options *

Mr Alistair Hunter 9,048,993 272,597

Mr Richard Beazley 825,765 796,986

Mr David Hammond 58,824  2,308,824

Mr Jonathan Murray 736,298 136,298

*  These options were allocated to directors under Tranche 2 of the Placement completed in September 2012, following shareholder approval on 10 September 
2012. Richard Beazley’s balance of 796,986 options also includes 88,235 allotted under the Share Placement Plan, also completed in September 2012. David 
Hammond’s balance includes 2.25 million options issued in May 2011 as part of his remuneration.

No options were granted during the financial year or since the end of the financial year to the directors or other key management 

personnel.

future developments

Likely future developments in the operations of the Group are referred to elsewhere in the Annual Report. Other than as referred to in 

this report, further information as to likely developments in the operations of the Group and expected results of those operations would, 

in the opinion of the Directors, be speculative and prejudicial to the interests of the Group and its shareholders.

environmental issues

The Company is aware of its environmental obligations with regards to its exploration activities and ensures that it complies with all 

regulations when carrying out any exploration work. The directors of the Company are not aware of any breach of environmental 

regulations for the year under review.

The directors have considered the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 (the NGER Act) which introduced a single 

national reporting framework for the reporting and dissemination of information about the greenhouse gas emissions, greenhouse gas 

projects, and energy use and production of corporations which exceed  specified  thresholds. At the current stage of development, the 

directors have determined that the NGER Act has no effect on the Company for the current or subsequent financial year. The directors 

will reassess this position as and when the need arises.

remuneration report (audited)

The remuneration report outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements for the group in accordance with the 

requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations.

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy of the Company has been designed to align director and executive objectives with shareholder and business 

objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component which is assessed on an annual basis in line with market rates and offering 

specific long-term incentives based on key performance areas affecting the Company’s financial results. The Board believes the 

remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best directors and executives to run and 

manage the Company. 

The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for Board members and senior executives of the Company is 

as follows:

The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive directors and other senior executives, was developed by the 

Board. All executives receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as length of service and experience) and superannuation. 
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Directors’ Report

The Board reviews executive packages annually by reference to the Company’s performance, executive performance and comparable 

information from industry sectors and other listed companies in similar industries.

The Board may exercise discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options. The policy is to attract the highest calibre 

of executives and reward them for performance that results in long-term growth in shareholder wealth.

Executives are also entitled to participate in the employee share and option arrangements. The executive directors receive a 

superannuation guarantee contribution required by the government, which is currently 9%, and do not receive any other retirement 

benefits.

All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed. Shares given to directors and 

executives are valued as the difference between the market price of those shares and the amount paid by the director or executive. 

Options are valued using the Black-Scholes method. Shares have been given to directors as part of their remuneration. Shares and 

options provided to directors are detailed in note 15 of the financial statements.

The Board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, commitment and 

responsibilities. The Board determines payments to the non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on 

market practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is sought when required. Fees for non-executive directors 

are not linked to the performance of the Company. However, to align directors’ interests with shareholder interests, the directors are 

encouraged to hold shares in the Company and are able to participate in the employee option plan.  

Performance based remuneration

The Company has no performance based remuneration component built into director and executive remuneration packages.

Company performance, shareholder wealth and director’s and executive’s remuneration

Summary of group’s performance and movements in Peak Resources Limited’s share price over the last five years:

2012 
$

2011  
$

2010  
$

2009  
$

2008  
$

Revenue 582,143 558,722 162,084 188,218 115,187

Net loss before tax (5,297,738) (2,241,059) (1,397,445) (2,497,483) (1,352,442)

Net loss after tax (5,297,738) (2,241,059) (1,397,445) (2,497,483) (1,352,442)

Closing share price at end of year $0.2200 $0.5100 $0.1000 $0.0230 $0.0745

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 3.01 1.71 1.42 4.09 2.95

Dividends per share - - - - -

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders and directors and executives. Currently, 

this is facilitated through the issue of options to the majority of directors and executives to encourage the alignment of personal and 

shareholder interests. The Company believes the policy will be effective in increasing shareholder wealth. For details of directors and 

executives interests in options at year end, refer note 15 of the financial statements.

Details of remuneration

The relevant Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the group for the 2012 financial year were:

• Mr Alastair Hunter – Non-Executive Chairman

• Mr Richard Beazley – Managing Director (appointed 16 January 2012)

• Mr David Hammond – Technical Director (appointed 23 October 2010)

• Mr Jonathan Murray – Non-Executive Director (appointed 22 March 2011)

• Ms Linda Paini – Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer (appointed 16 June 2011; resigned 14 August 2012).

Total remuneration for the year was: 

2012 
$

2011 
$

Salary and fees 640,033 448,976

Superannuation 42,902 14,397

Share-based payments 218,136 568,812

901,071 1,032,185
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Remuneration of individual KMP’s were:

sHORT-TERM  
BENEFITs

POsT  
EMPLOyMENT

sHARE-BAsED  
PAyMENT Equity 

compensation 
proportion 

 Salary &  Fees Non-Monetary
Super- 

annuation Equity Options TOTAL

30 June 2012  $  $  $  $ $ $ %

DIRECTORs 

Mr Alastair Hunter 49,000 - - - - 49,000 0%

Mr Richard Beazley 161,987 - 7,888 - - 169,875 0%

Mr David Hammond 254,046 - 22,864 - 218,136 495,046 44%

Mr Jonathan Murray 40,000 - - - - 40,000 0%

505,033 - 30,752 - 218,136 753,921 29%

EXECuTIVEs 

Ms Linda Paini 135,000 - 12,150 - - 147,150 0%

135,000 - 12,150 - - 147,150 0%

Total remuneration 640,033 - 42,902 - 218,136 901,071 24%

30 June 2011  $  $  $  $  $  $  % 

DIRECTORs 

Mr Alastair Hunter 55,250 - - 544,928 - 600,178 91%

Mr David Hammond 150,794 - 13,571 - 23,884 188,249 13%

Mr Jonathan Murray 11,096 - - - - 11,096 0%

 Mr Mark Maine (resigned 30/06/11) 187,700 27,270 - - - 214,970 0%

Mr Rodney Foster (resigned 20/10/10) 7,692 - - - - 7,692 0%

412,532 27,270 13,571 544,928 23,884 1,022,185 2%

EXECuTIVEs 

Ms Linda Paini 9,174 - 826 - - 10,000 0%

9,174 - 826 - - 10,000 0%

Total remuneration 421,706 27,270 14,397 544,928 23,884 1,032,185 55%

Compensation shares granted during the year ended 30 June 2012

No shares have been granted to directors or executive during the financial year.

Performance income as a proportion of total income

No performance based bonuses have been paid to directors or executives during the financial year.

Period Ended 30 June 2012

During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, the Company did not grant options to either Directors or Executives.

Year Ended 30 June 2011

During the financial year ended 30 June 2011, the Company granted to a director under the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) as 

disclosed below:

750,000 options at $0.60 exercisable 16 May 2015 vesting 16 May 2013

750,000 options at $0.90 exercisable 16 May 2015 vesting 16 May 2013

750,000 options at $1.20 exercisable 16 May 2015 vesting 16 May 2013

Directors’ Report
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The options were issued free of charge, and were valued at grant date using the Black & Scholes valuation model. 

16 May 2015 16 May 2015 16 May 2015

Grant Date 16/05/2011 16/05/2011 16/05/2011

Exercise Price $0.60 $0.90 $1.20

share price on grant date $0.53 $0.53 $0.53

Expected Volatility 80.86% 80.86% 80.86%

Expected life of options 4 years 4 years 4 years

Risk free interest rate 4.93% 4.93% 4.93%

 

Granted 
Number

Vested Number Grant Date Fair value $ Exercise Price $
First Exercise 

Date
Last Exercise 

Date

David Hammond 750,000 - 16/05/11 0.2247 0.60 16/05/13 16/05/15

750,000 - 16/05/11 0.1654 0.90 16/05/13 16/05/15

750,000 - 16/05/11 0.1272 1.20 16/05/13 16/05/15

Service agreements:

The key terms of the service agreements with the KMP’s are:

Alastair Hunter

Alastair Hunter’s engagement as Non-executive Director (Chairman) is via an on-going informal agreement. Mr Hunter’s engagement 

has no fixed term but ceases on his resignation or removal as a director in accordance with the Corporations Act.  Mr Hunter received 

director and consultancy fees of $50,000 in 2012. As a non-executive director, Mr Hunter is not entitled to leave entitlements or 

superannuation.

Jonathan Murray

Jonathan Murray is employed by Peak as Non-executive Director with an on-going contract dated 22 March 2011.  Mr Murray’s 

engagement has no fixed term but ceases on his resignation or removal as a director in accordance with the Corporations Act. Mr 

Murray receives directors’ fees of $40,000 per annum. As a non-executive director, Mr Murray is not entitled to leave entitlements or 

superannuation. 

Richard Beazley

Richard Beazley is employed by Peak as Managing Director with an on-going contract dated 16 January 2012. Mr Beazley’s annual 

salary is $350,000, exclusive of superannuation, and may include equity issues and bonuses. The Executive is entitled to leave in 

accordance with the relevant legislation. Mr Beazley’s engagement has no fixed term but ceases on his resignation or removal as a 

director in accordance with the Corporations Act, with notice of either party, or without notice in instances of misconduct. Any options 

issued as remuneration not exercised before or on the date of termination will be treated in accord with the terms under which they were 

issued. 

David Hammond

David Hammond is employed by Peak as Technical Director with an on-going contract dated 22 October 2010. Mr Hammond’s base 

annual salary is $235,000, exclusive of superannuation, plus expenses and may include equity issues and bonuses. The Executive 

is entitled to leave in accordance with the relevant legislation. Mr Hammond’s engagement has no fixed term but ceases on his 

resignation or removal as a director in accordance with the Corporations Act, with notice of either party, or without notice in instances 

of misconduct. Any options issued as remuneration not exercised before or on the date of termination will be treated in accord with the 

terms under which they were issued. 

Linda Paini

Linda Paini was employed by Peak as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Company Secretary by contract dated 16 June 2011. Ms 

Paini’s annual salary was $135,000, exclusive of superannuation. The Executive was entitled to leave in accordance with the relevant 

legislation. Ms Paini’s engagement had no fixed term but ceased on her resignation, with notice given. Ms Paini resigned as CFO and 

Company Secretary on 14 August 2012.

Farlee Walker

Farlee Walker was appointed by Peak as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Company Secretary on 14 August 2012. Her engagement 

is by way of a service agreement dated 10 August 2012 between Peak and Mining Corporate Pty Ltd. Peak have agreed to pay fees to 

Mining Corporate Pty Ltd, by whom Ms Walker is employed, for Ms Walker’s services as CFO and Company Secretary. No fees were 

paid in the year to June 2012, as Ms Walker was appointed subsequent to year end. 

Directors’ Report
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options

At the date of this report unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are:

Expiry Date Exercise Price Number under option

16 May 2015 $0.60 750,000

16 May 2015 $0.90 750,000

16 May 2015 $1.20 750,000

16 May 2013 $0.60 500,000

26 May 2013 $1.00 500,000

26 May 2014 $1.50 1,000,000

20 February 2017 $0.55 6,250,000

24 February 2014 $0.75 541,667

3 March 2018 $0.55 150,000

31 July 2014 $0.25 47,659,251

No ordinary shares were issued as a result of the exercise of options during or since the financial year ended 30 June 2012. 

During the year, the no directors exercised options that were granted to them as part of their compensation. 

indemnifying officers or auditor

During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors and officers of the Company 

and related body corporates against a liability incurred as such a director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the 

Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

The company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or 

agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer 

or auditor.

The Group has not entered into any arrangement to indemnify the auditors.

Proceedings on Behalf of company

No person has applied to the court under legislation such as section 237 of the Corporations Act of Australia for leave to bring 

proceedings on behalf of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party, for the purpose of taking 

responsibility on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings. No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on 

behalf of the consolidated entity with leave of the court under such legislation.

auditor’s independence declaration

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2012 has been received and can be found immediately 

following this Directors’ report.

The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services performed during the year by the Company’s auditors is 

compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied 

that the services did not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the following reason:

•  The nature of the services provided does not compromise the general principles relating to auditors independence as set out in the 

APES 110 (Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants). 

The Directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

 

Richard Beazley

Managing Director

Perth, 28 September 2012
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 30 June 2012

 

Note 2012 2011

$ $

Finance income 254,868 199,370

Other income 327,275 359,352

582,143 558,722

Employee benefits expenses (1,270,848) (374,540)

Share based payments expenses (218,138) (1,037,769)

Impairment of capitalised exploration costs (1,058,280) (473,370)

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (51,026) (47,237)

Costs for Zari acquisition (605,949) -

Administrative and other costs (2,675,640) (866,865)

Loss before income tax 3 (5,297,738) (2,241,059)

Income tax benefit 6 - -

Loss after income tax (5,297,738) (2,241,059)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations (41,981) 7,868

Total comprehensive income for the year (5,339,719) (2,233,191)

Loss per share (in cents)

Basic and diluted loss per share 5 (3.01) (1.71)

The statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2012

Note 2012 2011

$ $

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 3,562,868 7,346,027

Trade and other receivables 8 431,653 86,688

Prepayments 179,067 143,590

Total current assets 4,173,587 7,576,305

Non-current assets

Property plant and equipment 9 128,098 93,181

Capitalised exploration and evaluation costs 10 25,704,407 4,397,002

Total non-current assets 25,832,505 4,490,183

Total assets 30,006,092 12,066,488

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 1,685,848 715,498

Provisions 12 65,272 12,123

Total current liabilities 1,751,120 727,621

Total liabilities 1,751,120 727,621

Net Assets 28,254,972 11,338,867

EQUITY

Contributed equity 13 41,740,020 19,767,170

Reserves 14 663,014 422,021

Accumulated losses (14,148,062) (8,850,324)

Total equity 28,254,972 11,338,867

The statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2012

Note 2012 2011

$ $

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments to suppliers and employees (3,595,230) (1,088,905)

Interest received 254,868 199,370

Project management income - 338,754

Cash used in operating activities 7 (3,340,362) (550,781)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (99,602) (63,534)

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 26,784 47,000

Payment for acquisition of Zari exploration tenements (5,993,934) -

Payment for exploration and evaluation costs (4,602,510) (2,773,441)

Cash used in investing activities (10,669,262) (2,789,975)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of equity shares 10,945,934 7,923,046

Costs of issuing equity shares (677,489) (375,956)

Cash generated from financing activities 10,268,445 7,547,090

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,741,179) 4,206,334

Balance at the beginning of the year 7,346,027 3,139,693

Effect of foreign currency translation (41,981) -

Balance at the end of the year 3,562,867 7,346,027

The statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2012

 Contributed 

equity

share based 

payment 

reserve

 Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve

Accumulated 

losses
Total equity

$ $ $ $ $

At 30 June 2010 11,400,151 196,312 - (6,609,265) 4,987,198

Loss for the year 2011 - - - (2,241,059) (2,241,059)

Other comprehensive income - - 7,868 - 7,868

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 7,868 (2,241,059) (2,233,191)

Equity issued 6,668,875 - - - 6,668,875

Options exercised 1,254,172 - - - 1,254,172

Equity based payments 819,928 217,841 - - 1,037,769

Transaction costs (375,956) - - - (375,956)

At 30 June 2011 19,767,170 414,153 7,868 (8,850,324) 11,338,867

Loss for the year 2012 - - - (5,297,738) (5,297,738)

Other comprehensive income - - (41,981) - (41,981)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (41,981) (5,297,738) (5,339,719)

Equity issued 22,715,175 - - - 22,715,175

Equity based payments - 282,974 - - 282,974

Transaction costs (742,325) - - - (742,325)

At 30 June 2012 41,740,020 697,127 (34,113) (14,148,062) 28,254,972

 The statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Notes to Financial Statements 

1 corporate information

The financial report of Peak Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012 was authorised for issue in accordance with a 

resolution of the directors on 28 September 2011. 

Peak Resources Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian 

Securities Exchange (ASX). The address of its registered office and principal place of business is disclosed in the introduction to the 

Annual Report. 

The principal activity of the Group during the year was exploration and evaluation of mineral licences.

2 significant accounting policies

a) Basis of Preparation

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost.  Cost is based on the fair values of the 

consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian Dollars unless otherwise noted.

The functional and presentation currency is Australian Dollars.

Statement of compliance

 The financial report is a for-profit general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law.

 Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes of the Group comply with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

b) Adoption of new or revised accounting standards 

Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported in the current period (and/or prior periods)

 The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current year and have affected the amounts 

reported in these financial statements. Details of other Standards and interpretations adopted in these financial statements but that 

have had no effect on the amounts reported.

Standards affecting presentation and disclosure

Amendments to AASB 7  

‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’

The amendments (part of AASB 2010-4 ‘Further Amendments 

to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 

Annual Improvements Project’1) clarify the required level 

of disclosures about credit risk and collateral held and 

provide relief from disclosures previously required regarding 

renegotiated loans.

Amendments to AASB 101  

‘Presentation of Financial Statements’

The amendments (part of AASB 2010-4 ‘Further Amendments 

to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 

Improvements Project’1) clarify that an entity may choose to 

present the required analysis of items of other comprehensive 

income either in the statement of changes in equity or in the 

notes to the financial statements.
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Standards and Interpretations adopted with no effect on financial statements

 The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have also been adopted in these financial statements. Their adoption 

has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements but may affect the accounting for future 

transactions or arrangements. 

AASB 2009-14  

‘Amendments to Australian Interpretation  

– Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement’ 

Interpretation 114 addresses when refunds or reductions 

in future contributions should be regarded as available in 

accordance with paragraph 58 of AASB 119; how minimum 

funding requirements might affect the availability of 

reductions in future contributions; and when minimum funding 

requirements might give rise to a liability. The amendments 

now allow recognition of an asset in the form of prepaid 

minimum funding contributions. The application of the 

amendments to Interpretation 114 has not had material effect 

on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

AASB 2009-12  

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ 

The application of AASB 2009-12 makes amendments to 

AASB 8 ‘Operating Segments’ as a result of the issuance of 

AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ (2009). The amendment 

to AASB 8 requires an entity to exercise judgement in 

assessing whether a government and entities known to be 

under the control of that government are considered a single 

customer for the purposes of certain operating segment 

disclosures. The Standard also makes numerous editorial 

amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards 

and Interpretations. The application of AASB 2009-12 has not 

had any material effect on amounts reported in the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements.

AASB 2010-5  

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

The Standard makes numerous editorial amendments to a 

range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. 

The application of AASB 2010-5 has not had any material 

effect on amounts reported in the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements.

AASB 2010-6  

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  

– Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets’

The application of AASB 2010-6 makes amendments to AASB 

7 ‘Financial Instruments – Disclosures’ to introduce additional 

disclosure requirements for transactions involving transfer of 

financial assets. These amendments are intended to provide 

greater transparency around risk exposures when a financial 

asset is transferred and derecognised but the transferor 

retains some level of continuing exposure in the asset.

To date, the Group has not entered into any transfer 

arrangements of financial assets that are derecognised but 

with some level of continuing exposure in the asset. Therefore, 

the application of the amendments has not had any material 

effect on the disclosures made in the consolidated financial 

statements.

Notes to Financial Statements 
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Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet effective.

standard/Interpretation
Eff ective for annual 

reporting periods 
beginning on or after

Expected to be initially 
applied in the financial  

year ending

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, AASB 200911  

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9’ and 

AASB 2010-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 

AASB 9 (December 2010)’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 127 ‘Separate Financial Statements’ (2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 128 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ (2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ and AASB 2011-8 ‘Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13’
1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’ (2011) and AASB 2011-10  

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (2011)’
1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2010-8 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  

– Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets
1 January 2012 30 June 2013

AASB 2011-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove 

Individual Key Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements’
1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2011-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 

Consolidation and Joint Arrangements standards’
1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2011-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  

– Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income’
1 January 2012 30 June 2013

The directors are in the process of assessing the impact of these new and revised standards on the financial reporting of the group.

c)  Basis of consolidation

A controlled entity is any entity Peak Resources Limited has the power to control the financial and operating policies of so as to obtain 

benefits from its activities.

All controlled entities have a June financial year-end.

All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in the economic entity, including any unrealised profits or losses, have 

been eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistencies 

with those policies applied by the parent entity.

Where controlled entities have entered or left the economic entity during the year, their operating results have been included/excluded 

from the date control was obtained or until the date control ceased.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Peak Resources Limited and its controlled subsidiaries (‘the 

Group’).

Pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 10 July 2006 Peak Resources (the “legal parent”, formerly Acquisitor Limited) acquired all 

of the issued shares of PRL, by the issue of 8,400,000 ordinary shares in Peak Resources.

After the issue, the former shareholders of PRL controlled 43% of Peak Resources, and also all of the directors in the “legal parent” 

changed as a result of the change of control.  The continuing business is that of PRL.  Consequently the acquisition of PRL has been 

accounted for as a reverse acquisition of Peak Resources by PRL using the purchase method of accounting.  The continuing financial 

statements for the group include the assets, liabilities and results of PRL and the assets liabilities and results of the legal parent, Peak 

Resources, from the effective date of the business combination.  The consolidated results are those of PRL and the continuing financial 

statements of the parent are those of the “legal parent”.

Notes to Financial Statements 



 33

d) Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements have been presented in Australian Dollars. 

Translation of foreign operations

As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency at the rate of 

exchange ruling at the reporting date and the statement of comprehensive income, statement cash flows and statement of changes in 

equity are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The exchange differences arising on the retranslation are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated balances are 

carried forward as a separate component of equity.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is 

recognised in the income statement.

Foreign currency transactions

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the 

functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date, and gain or loss in exchange rate movements are 

recognised in profit or loss.

e) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably 

measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion at rates agreed between the parties. 

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset on initial 

recognition). 

f) Employee benefits

Employee benefits such as salary and wages are measured at the rate at which the entity expects to settle the liability; and recognised 

during the period over which the employee services are being rendered.

Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to balance date. 

Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 

liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the 

estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. 

Superannuation entitlements

Contributions are made by the company to employee superannuation funds and are charged as expenses when incurred.

g) Leases

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses in 

the periods in which they are incurred.

h) Income tax

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 

their carrying amounts for the financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except where the deferred income tax liability arises 

from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 

affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused 

tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and 

the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised except where the deferred income tax asset relating to 

the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Notes to Financial Statements 
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The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.  

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised 

or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the statement of comprehensive income.

i) Other taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST/VAT except:

•  When the GST/VAT incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the 

GST/VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

• Receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST/VAT included.

The net amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 

statement of financial position.

GST/VAT component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 

authority, is classified as part of operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

j) Earnings per share

a. Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the group operating result after income tax attributable to members by weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during 

the year.

b.  Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figure used in the determination of basic earnings per share by taking into account amounts paid 

on ordinary shares and any reduction in earnings per share that will probably arise from the exercise of options outstanding during the 

financial year.

k) Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are recognised when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The derecognition 

of a financial instrument takes place when the Group no longer controls the contractual rights that comprise the financial instrument, 

which is normally the case when the instrument is sold, or all the cash flows attributable to the instrument are passed through to an 

independent third party.

The financial instruments of the Group are (i) cash and cash equivalent; (ii) trade and other receivable; and (iii) trade and other payable.

l) Cash and Cash Equivalent

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with an 

original maturity of three months or less.

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net 

of outstanding bank overdrafts.

m) Trade and Other Receivable

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised initially at fair value less an allowance for impairment.  

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis at an operating unit level.  Individual debts that are known to be 

uncollectible are written off when identified.  An impairment provision is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Group will 

not be able to collect the receivable.

Notes to Financial Statements 
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n) Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. 

The useful life of the assets have been set at the following levels to determine the depreciation rates:

• Leasehold improvements: 2 years

• Plant and equipment: 2 to 5 years

• Other assets: 2 to 5 years

The carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment are reviewed by the management to determine the adequacy of the 

depreciation charged at the end of each reporting period. Any excess or shortfall in depreciation charged is being adjusted in the 

statement of comprehensive income in the year in which such adjustments are being made as a reversal of the depreciation expense.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise 

from the continued use of the asset.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the item) is included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period the item is derecognised.

Impairment

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with recoverable amount being 

estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment losses, if any, are 

recognised in the profit or loss.

Derecognition and disposal

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected 

from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

o) Deferred exploration and evaluation costs

Exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each separate area of interest are recognised as an exploration and evaluation 

asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following conditions are satisfied:

(i) the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

(ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met:

 (a)  the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploration of 

the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or

 (b)  exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage which permits 

a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant 

operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost and include acquisition of rights to explore, studies, exploratory drilling 

and associated activities and an allocation of depreciation and amortisation of assets used in exploration and evaluation activities. 

General and administrative costs are only included in the measurement of exploration and evaluation costs where they are related 

directly to operational activities in a particular area of interest.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of 

an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the exploration and evaluation 

asset (for the cash generating unit(s) to which it has been allocated being no larger than the relevant area of interest) is estimated to 

determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its 

recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years.

Where a decision has been made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of interest, the relevant exploration and 

evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is then reclassified to production assets.

Notes to Financial Statements 
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p) Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost due to their short term nature they are not discounted.  They represent 

liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arising when the Group 

becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.  The amounts are unsecured and 

are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

q) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 

an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 

the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

r) Share-based payment transactions

Equity settled transactions:

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Group in the form of share-based payments, whereby 

employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions).

The current plan in place to provide these benefits is the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), which provides benefits to directors and 

senior executives; and

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the 

date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external party using a Black-Scholes model.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the 

shares of Peak Resources Limited (market conditions) if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 

performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the 

award (the vesting period).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects: 

 (i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired and  

 (ii)  the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood 

of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value 

at grant date. The statement of comprehensive income charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative 

expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional upon a market 

condition.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In 

addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or 

is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised 

for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a 

replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original 

award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share. 
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s) Critical accounting judgements and estimates

In the application of Australian Accounting Standards, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about 

carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions 

are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of 

which form the basis of making the judgments.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 

the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods. 

Impairment of deferred exploration and evaluation costs (see Note 10)

The future recoverability of deferred exploration and evaluation costs are dependent on a number of factors, including the level of 

proved, probable and inferred mineral resources, future technological changes which could impact the cost of mining, future legal 

changes (including changes to environment restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices. 

To the extent that deferred exploration and evaluation costs is determined not to be recoverable in the future, this will reduce profits and 

net assets in the period in which this determination is made.

Share based payment transactions (see Note 15)

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which 

they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon 

which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would 

have no impact on the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities, within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or 

loss and equity.

3 income and expenditure items

2 012 2011

$ $

Included in loss for the year are:

Income from sale of ore stockpile - 338,754

Gain on sale of non-current assets 13,125 20,598

Occupancy costs (148,554) (78,898)

Auditors’ remuneration

To Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for:

Audit and review of financial statements 39,232 32,500

Taxation services 64,203 10,957

103,435 43,457

Notes to Financial Statements 



38  PEAK RESOURCES LTD | 2012 ANNUAL REPORT

4 operating segments

The group operates in one operating segment, namely exploration & evaluation of mineral resources. The two geographic segments of 

group’s operations are:

• Tanzania – Group’s exploration activities carried in Tanzania; and

• Australia - to manage the corporate affairs of the group.

The segments have applied the same accounting policies as applied to the Group and disclosed in the notes 1 and 2 to these financial 

statements.

30 June 2012 30 June 2011

Tanzania Australia Total Tanzania Australia Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Finance income - 254,868 254,868 - 199,370 199,370

Other income 122,054 205,221 327,275 336,535 22,817 359,352

Total revenue 122,054 460,089 582,143 336,535 222,187 558,722

Depreciation and 
amortisation

(15,978) (35,048) (51,026) (5,251) (41,986) (47,237)

Impairment of 
exploration and 
evaluation costs

(1,058,280) - (1,058,280) (473,370) - (473,370)

Share based  
payment expenses

- (218,138) (218,138) - (1,037,769) (1,037,769)

Costs for Zari 
acquisition

(605,949) - (605,949) - - -

Other expenses (2,858,210) (1,088,278) (3,946,488) (33,507) (1,207,898) (1,241,405)

Segment results (4,416,363) (881,374) (5,297,738) (175,593) (2,065,466) (2,241,059)

Segment assets 25,764,667 4,241,426 30,006,092 4,397,002 7,669,486 12,066,488

Segment liabilities 962,372 788,748 1,751,120 363,733 363,888 727,621

Additions to  
non-current assets

Plant and equipment - 99,602 99,602 - 63,534 63,534

Capitalised exploration 
& evaluation costs

22,365,685 - 22,365,685 2,955,764 - 2,955,764

22,365,685 99,602 22,465,287 2,955,764 63,534 3,019,298

5 loss per share

The following reflects the income and share data used in the total operations basic and dilutive earnings per share computations:

  

2012 

cents

2011 

cents

Basic and diluted loss per share (3.01) (1.71)

Nos. Nos.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used  

in calculating basic and diluted loss per share 177,660,173 130,833,356

Anti-dilutive options over ordinary shares excluded  

from the weighted average number of shares 11,191,667 4,250,000
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6 income tax

2012 2011

$ $

a. The components of tax expense comprise:

Current tax 407 -

Deferred tax - -

Losses recouped not previously recognised (407)

Income tax expense reported in statement of comprehensive income - -

b. The prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities before 

income tax is reconciled to the income tax as follows:
Prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities before income tax  

at 30% (2011: 30%) 
(1,589,321) (672,318)

Add tax effect of: 

- Revenue losses not recognised 571,303 373,690

- Equity based payments 65,441 311,331

- Other non-allowable items 974,293 40,409

21,716 53,112

Less tax effect of: 

- Other deferred tax balances not recognised 21,309 53,112

- Losses recouped not previously recognised 407 -

Income tax expense reported in statement of comprehensive income - -

c. Deferred tax recognised:

Deferred tax liabilities:

Accrued interest (7,514) (6,356)

Other (1,006) (914)

Deferred tax assets:

Carry forward revenue losses 8,520 7,270

Net deferred tax - -

d. unrecognised deferred tax assets:

Carry forward revenue losses 2,814,111 2,259,234

Capital raising costs 333,702 139,355

Provisions and accruals 25,255 17,628

Other - 584

3,173,068 2,416,801

The tax benefits of the above deferred tax assets will only be obtained if:

(a)  the company derives future assessable income of a nature and of an 

amount sufficient to enable the benefits to be utilised;

(b)  the company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility 

imposed by law; and

(c)  no changes in income tax legislation adversely affect the company in 

utilising the benefits.
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7 cash and cash equivalents

2012 2011

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalent $ $

For the purposes of the Cash Flow statement,  

cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Cash at bank and in hand 1,108,868 1,663,388

Short Term Deposits 2,454,000 5,682,639

3,562,868 7,346,027

Reconciliation of operating loss to operating cash flows

Loss for the year (5,297,738) (2,241,059)

Adjustments for:

Gain on sale of non-current assets (13,125) (20,598)

Share based payments expenses 218,138 1,037,769

Impairment of capitalised exploration costs 1,058,280 473,370

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 51,026 47,237

Working capital item movements

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables (344,965) 14,175

(Increase) / decrease in prepayments (35,477) (141,321)

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 970,350 267,523

Increase / (decrease) in provisions 53,149 12,123

(3,340,362) (550,781)

Restriction on use of cash:

A deposit of $154,000 (2011: $59,000), $50,000 has been secured against guarantee issued by the bank against the group’s 

tenements, $45,000 secured as a rental deposit and the balance of $50,000 secured for the company’s credit. These cash balances 

are not available for withdrawal till such guarantees are withdrawn.

Material non-cash transactions:

24,266,476 shares valued at $11,769,241 were issued during 2012 in consideration for the acquisition of Zari Exploration Limited  

(Refer to Note 10).

8 trade and other receivables

2012 2011

$ $

GST / VAT receivable 386,275 50,563

Other receivable 45,379 36,125

431,653 86,688

Ageing of receivables

Recoverable within 3 months 431,653 86,688

Beyond 3 months - -

431,653 86,688

Receivables are non-interest bearing, unsecured and are generally receivable 

within 90 days.
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9 Property, plant and equipment

2012 2011

$ $

Plant and equipment

At cost 200,862 209,301

Accumulated depreciation (72,764) (116,120)

128,098 93,181

Movement in net carrying amount

Balance at the beginning of the year 93,181 102,679

Additions 99,602 63,534

Disposals (13,659) (25,795)

Depreciation for the year (51,026) (47,237)

Balance at the end of the year 128,098 93,181

10 capitalised exploration and evaluation costs

2012 2011

$ $

Movement in net carrying amount:

Balance at the beginning of the year 4,397,002 1,914,698

Acquisition of Zari exploration assets (a) 17,763,175 -

Expenditure capitalised during the year 4,602,510 2,955,674

Impairment recognised during the year (1,058,280) (473,370)

Balance at the end of the year 25,704,407 4,397,002

Capitalised areas of interest:

Ngualla Rare Earths Project, Tanzania 25,626,730 4,397,002

Lake Victoria Gold Fields, Tanzania 77,677 -

25,704,407 4,397,002

(a)  The Group completed the acquisition of Zari Exploration Limted (Zari), a Tanzanian incorporated company. Through this acquisition, 

the Group acquired 100% ownership of the Ngualla Rear Earth Project. The acquisition was considered to be an acquisition of 

exploration assets and not a business combination.

 The consideration for acquisition was settled through:

 •  24,266,476 fully paid ordinary shares of Peak Resources Limited fair valued at $11,769,241 based on the closing price of $0.485 

per share; and

 • US$6,000,000 ($5,993,934) in cash.

(b)  The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation phases is dependent on successful development 

and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective exploration areas.

  Deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment by the directors when facts and circumstances 

suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the future economic benefits that may be recovered from the asset. This assessment is 

performed when the above circumstances occur and at every reporting date.
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11 trade and other payables

2012 2011

$ $

Trade and other payables 1,685,848 715,498

1,685,848 715,498

Ageing of payables

Payable within 3 months 1,685,848 715,498

Beyond 3 months - -

1,685,848 715,498

Payables are non-interest bearing,  

unsecured and are generally payable in 30 - 90 days.

12 Provisions

2012 2011

$ $

Employee benefits - leave entitlements 65,272 12,123

65,272 12,123

13 contributed equity

Nos. $

Balance at 30 June 2010 114,615,794 11,400,151

Placement at $0.46 per share 07-Oct-10 5,000,000 2,300,000

Exercise of options at $0.05 per share 31-Dec-10 22,683,439 1,134,172

Exercise of options at $0.20 per share 31-Dec-10 600,000 120,000

Placement at $0.55 per share 17-May-11 7,090,910 3,900,000

Employee shares at $0.55 per share 20-May-11 500,000 275,000

Share purchase plan at $0.55 per share 07-Jun-11 852,500 468,875

Employee shares at $0.545 per share 07-Jun-11 1,000,000 544,928

Equity issue costs - (375,956)

Balance at 30 June 2011 152,342,643 19,767,170

Placement at $0.55 per share 13-Jul-11 2,784,500 1,531,475

Placement at $0.28 per share 28-Nov-11 11,337,349 3,174,459

Placement at $0.28 per share 09-Jan-12 8,000,000 2,240,000

Issued for acquisition of Zari Exploration assets $0.485 22-Feb-12 24,266,476 11,769,241

Placement at $0.48 per share * 22-Feb-12 8,333,334 4,000,000

Equity issue costs - (742,325)

Balance at 30 June 2012 207,064,302 41,740,020

* On 22/02/2012, 8,333,334 ordinary shares and 6,250,000 options over ordinary shares (exercisable at $0.55 by 20/02/2017) were 

issued for cash consideration of $4,000,000 (before costs). 

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared, and in the event of winding up the Company, to participate in the 

proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid upon on shares held. Ordinary shares 

entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company
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Pursuant to an agreement dated 10 July 2007 PRL Pty Ltd (PRL) has undertaken a reverse acquisition of Peak Resources Limited 

(formerly Acquisitor Ltd). As a result of this transaction PRL became a wholly owned subsidiary of Peak Resources.  For accounting 

purposes, the number of shares disclosed reflects that of the legal Parent, Peak Resources, whilst the amounts are those of the legal 

subsidiary PRL.

Options over ordinary shares

During the financial year, the following no options were exercised.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, 6,941,667 options have been issued over ordinary shares, exercisable at varying prices 

and periods.

At the end of the reporting period, there were 11,191,667 options over unissued shares as follows:

Type Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number under Option Vesting Date

Unlisted Options 16 May 2013 $0.60 500,000 Vested

Unlisted Options 26 May 2013 $1.00 500,000 Vested

Unlisted Options 26 May 2014 $1.50 1,000,000 Vested

Unlisted Options 16 May 2015 $0.60 750,000 16 May 2013

Unlisted Options 16 May 2015 $0.90 750,000 16 May 2013

Unlisted Options 16 May 2015 $1.20 750,000 16 May 2013

Unlisted Options 20 February 2017 $0.55 6,250,000 Vested

Unlisted Options 24 February 2014 $0.75 541,667 24 August 2012

Unlisted Options 3 March 2018 $0.55 150,000 3 March 2013

No ordinary shares were issued as a result of the exercise of options during the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

Weighted average exercise price of options outstanding were $0.74; and the average time was 3.58 years.

Capital Management Policy

The group’s policy is to effectively manage its capital structure so that it would continue to operate as a going concern. The group 

manages its contributed equity and reserves as part of its capital. The group has no debt obligations and is not subject to any externally 

imposed capital requirements.

Consistent with other exploration companies, the operational requirements of the group are funded through equity raised in various 

trenches. The overall capital management policy of the group remains unchanged and is consistent with prior years.

14 reserves

 
 share based 

payment reserve

 Foreign currency 

translation reserve 
Total

$ $ $

At 30 June 2010 196,312 - 196,312

Share based payment made in 2011 217,841 - 217,841

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations - 7,868 7,868

At 30 June 2011 414,153 7,868 422,021

Share based payment made in 2012 282,974 - 282,974

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations - (41,981) (41,981)

At 30 June 2012 697,127 (34,113) 663,014

Share based payment reserve – the reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as 

part of their remuneration, and other parties as part of their compensation for supply of goods and services.

Foreign currency translation reserve – the reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from translation of foreign 

operations to Australian dollar.
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15 share based payments

Employee share option plan

The Group has an employee share options plan (ESOP) for the granting of non-transferable options to directors, executives and 

employees. Nil options (2011: 4,250,000) have been granted pursuant to the ESOP during the year.

Year Ended 30 June 2012

During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, the Company did not grant options to a director or employee. 

During the year, certain options were granted to financial consultants in consideration for their services in sourcing investors for the 

Group. The fair value of $64,836 has been recognised in equity issue transaction costs.

Number of options 541,667 150,000

Grant date 25/06/2012 25/06/2012

Expiry date 24/02/2014 03/03/2018

Exercise price           $0.75            $0.55

Share price on grant date $0.215 $0.215

Volatility 86% 86%

Expiry of options (years) 1.5 5.0

Risk free interest rate 2.41% 2.41%

Fair value per option           $0.10            $0.13

Year Ended 30 June 2011

During the financial year ended 30 June 2011, the Company granted to a director under the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) and 

an employee as disclosed below:

 750,000 options at $0.60 exercisable to 16 May 2015 vesting 16 May 2013

 750,000 options at $0.90 exercisable to 16 May 2015 vesting 16 May 2013

 750,000 options at $1.20 exercisable to 16 May 2015 vesting 16 May 2013

 500,000 options at $0.60 exercisable on or before 16 May 2013

 500,000 options at $1.00 exercisable on or before 26 May 2013

 1,000,000 options at $1.50 exercisable on or before 26 May 2014

The options were issued free of charge, and were valued at grant date using the Black & Scholes valuation model. 

  

16 May 2015   16 May 2015 16 May 2015 16 May 2013 16 May 2013 16 May 2014

Grant Date 16/05/2011 16/05/2011 16/05/2011 16/05/2011 16/05/2011 16/05/2011

Exercise Price                $0.60 $0.90     $1.20            $0.60 $1.00     $1.50

Share price on grant date   $0.53      $0.53            $0.53 $0.53     $0.53     $0.53

Expected Volatility           80.86% 80.86%    80.86%    80.86%    80.86%    80.86%

Expected life of options 4 years 4 years      4 years 4 years   2 years    3 years

Risk free interest rate 4.93% 4.93%     4.93%            4.93% 4.93%     4.93%
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Granted  

Number

Vested 

Number
Grant Date

Value per 

Option at 

Grant Date

Exercise Price
First Exercise 

Date

Last Exercise 

Date

$ $

D. Hammond 750,000 - 16/05/11 0.2247 0.60 16/05/15 16/05/13

750,000 - 16/05/11 0.1654 0.90 16/05/13 16/05/15

750,000 - 16/05/11 0.1272 1.20 16/05/13 16/05/15

B. Lloyd 500,000 - 16/05/11 0.22470 0.60 17/05/11 16/05/13

500,000 - 16/05/11 0.15090 1.00 17/05/11 26/05/13

1,000,000 - 16/05/11 0.10290 1.50 26/05/12 26/05/13

16 contingencies and commitments

Lease commitments

The company has committed to an office lease of $105,300 per annum to 31 January 2015.

 

2012 2011

$ $

Up to 1 year 63,531 19,656

1 to 5 years 315,900 -

Beyond 5 years - -

379,431 19,656

Tenement commitments

The Group has prospecting licences located in Tanzania which have a requirement for a certain level of expenditure each and every 

year in addition to annual rental payments for the tenements.  Additional detail on the tenements is available in Additional Information in 

the Annual Report.

At 30 June 2012 annual expenditure commitments in respect of exploration assets amounted to $105,855 (2011 $181,282).  These 

mineral commitments are subject to provisions of legislation governing the granting of mineral exploration licences.  Commitments may 

be varied in accordance with the provisions of governing regulations or obligations may be farmed out under agreements with third 

parties.

Capital commitments

At 30 June 2011, the Group had no capital commitments.  At the 30 June 2012 the Group had commitments under farm in agreements 

$176,470 (2011 $176,470). 

Contingencies

At 30 June 2012, the Group had no contingencies (2011: Nil).
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17 Key management personnel disclosure

 Compensation of Key Management Personnel (KMP)

   2012 2011

$ $

Salary and fees 640,033 448,976

Superannuation 42,902 14,397

Share based payments 218,136 568,812

901,071 1,032,185

Shareholdings of KMP’s

 Opening balance 
 Granted as 

remuneration 

 Exercise of 

options 

 Market 

transactions 
 Closing balance 

30 June 2012  Nos.  $  $  $  $ 

Directors

Mr Alastair Hunter 9,276,395 - - (500,000) 8,776,395

Mr Richard Beazley - - - 28,779 28,779

Mr David Hammond - - - - -

Mr Jonathan Murray 520,000 - - 80,000 600,000

9,796,395 - - (391,221) 9,405,174

Executives

Ms Linda Paini - - - - -

- - - - -

Total 9,796,395 - - (391,221) 9,405,174

30 June 2011

Directors

Mr Alastair Hunter 6,339,418 1,000,000 1,696,977 240,000 9,276,395

Mr David Hammond - - - - -

Mr Jonathan Murray - - - 520,000 520,000

Mr Mark Maine (resigned 30/06/11) 3,743,000 - 498,000 - -

Mr Rodney Foster (resigned 20/10/10) 4,179,000 - - - -

14,261,418 1,000,000 2,194,977 760,000 9,796,395

Executives

Ms Linda Paini - - - - -

- - - - -

Total 14,261,418 1,000,000 2,194,977 760,000 9,796,395
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Option holdings of KMP’s

  

Opening 
balance 

 Granted as 
remuneration 

 Exercise / 
expiry of options 

 Market 
transactions 

 Closing  
balance 

 Vest at 
30 June 

30 June 2012  Nos.  $  $  $  $ 

Directors

Mr Alastair Hunter - - - - - -

Mr Richard Beazley - - - - - -

Mr David Hammond 2,250,000 - - - 2,250,000 -

Mr Jonathan Murray - - - - - -

2,250,000 - - - 2,250,000 -

Executives

Ms Linda Paini - - - - - -

- - - - - -

Total 2,250,000 - - - 2,250,000 -

30 June 2011

Directors

Mr Alastair Hunter 1,696,977 - (1,696,977) - - -

Mr David Hammond - 2,250,000 - - 2,250,000 -

Mr Jonathan Murray - - - - - -

Mr Mark Maine (resigned 30/06/11) 998,000 - (498,000) (500,000) - -

Mr Rodney Foster (resigned 20/10/10) 944,000 - - (944,000) - -

3,638,977 2,250,000 (2,194,977) (1,444,000) 2,250,000 -

Executives

Ms Linda Paini - - - - - -

- - - - - -

Total 3,638,977 2,250,000 (2,194,977) (1,444,000) 2,250,000 -

Loans to KMP’s

No loans were made to KMP’s during the financial year (2011: $Nil)

Other transaction and balances with KMP’s

During the year Steinepreis Paganin Lawyers and Consultants a legal practice associated with Mr Jonathan Murray received $175,581 

(2011: $30,429) as fees for the provision of legal advice.

These costs have not been included in directors’ remuneration as these fees were not paid to individual directors in relation to the 

management of the affairs of the Company.  All transactions were entered into on normal commercial terms.
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18 financial instruments

The financial instruments of the group comprise of (i) cash and cash equivalents; (ii) trade and other receivables; and (iii) trade and 

other payables.

The Group’s principal financial instruments are cash and short term deposits.  The main purpose of these financial instruments is to 

finance the Group’s operations.  The Group has various other financial instruments such as trade debtors and trade creditors which 

arise directly from its operations.  It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial 

instruments shall be undertaken.

The financial instruments expose the group to certain risks. The nature and extent of such risks, and the management’s risk 

management strategy are noted below.

Fair value of financial instruments

 

2012 2011

$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 3,562,868 7,346,027

Trade and other receivables 431,653 86,688

Trade and other payables (1,685,848) (715,498)

The carrying amount of financial instruments closely approximates their fair value on account of short maturity cycle. 

Credit risk

The group’s credit risks arise from potential default of trade and other receivables. The maximum credit exposure is limited to the 

carrying amount of trade and other receivables $431,653 (2011:$86,688) at reporting dates.

As at 30 June 2012, the receivable balances consist primarily of GST/VAT credits. The management does not consider the GST/VAT 

receivable to be at risk of default as these are receivable from the Government agencies.

There was no significant concentration of credit risks.

Liquidity risk

The group’s liquidity risks arise from potential inability of the group to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due, generally 

due to shortage of cleared funds. The group is exposed to liquidity risk on account of trade and other payables. The group manages its 

liquidity risk through continuously monitoring the cleared funds position; and by utilising short term cash budgets.

The contractual maturity analysis of group’s financial instruments are noted below:

2012 2011

up to 3 months > 3 months Total up to 3 months > 3 months Total

$ $  

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (1,685,848) - (1,685,848) (715,498) - (715,498)

(1,685,848) - (1,685,848) (715,498) - (715,498)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,408,868 154,000 3,562,868 7,287,027 59,000 7,346,027

Trade and other receivables 431,653 - 431,653 86,688 86,688

3,840,521 154,000 3,994,521 7,373,715 59,000 7,432,715
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that fair values and cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will be affected by changes in the market 

interest rates.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are impacted by interest rate risks. Other receivables and payables have short maturities and 

are non-interest bearing.  Management believes that the risk of interest rate movement would not have a material impact of the Group’s 

operations.

Management does not closely monitor the interest rates offered on cash and cash equivalents as the Group’s primary objective is 

exploration of resources rather than earning interest income. The cash balances are invested at the prevailing short term market interest 

rates with credit worthy financial institutions.

The sensitivity of the interest bearing financial instruments to a 1% change in market interest rate are noted below:

  

2012 2011

$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 3,562,868 7,346,027

Impact on profit and equity - +1% movement 35,629 73,460

Impact on profit and equity - -1% movement (35,629) (73,460)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to price risk is minimal at this stage of the operations. The Group will transfer cash and cash equivalents into 

foreign currency to meet short term expenditure obligations.

The Group’s expenditure obligations in Tanzania are primarily in US dollars as a result the Group is exposed to fluctuations in the US 

dollar to Australian currency.  These exposures are not subject to a hedging programme. The Board and management from time to time 

having regard to likely forward commitments review this policy.

Commodity price risk

The Group’s exposure to commodity price risk is minimal at this stage of the operation.

19 Subsequent events

On 27 July 2012 the company announced that it was undertaking a placement of 32.3 million shares at $0.17 to sophisticated investors 

and clients of Shaw Corporate Finance Pty Ltd and Blue Ocean Equities Pty Ltd raising $5.5 million before costs. Subscribers to the 

placement were issued to 1 free option for every share allotted.

The placement will be completed in two tranches. Tranche 1 was completed on 6 August 2012 and 15.5 million shares and 15.5 million 

options have been allotted to raise $2.64million before costs. The shares were issued under the Peak’s 15% capacity rule, subsequently 

ratified by shareholder approval on 10 September 2012. Tranche 2 of 16.8 million shares and 16.8 million options as issued following 

shareholder approval at the same General Meeting of the Company, raising approximately $2.86million before costs.

The company also offered existing shareholders the opportunity to participate in a Share Purchase Plan (SPP) where shareholders 

subscribed for up to $15,000 worth of shares (at $0.17 per share with a free attaching option). 15.3 million shares and 15.3 million 

options were issued raising $2.60m before costs.  

The options (ASX: PEKO) are listed and are exercisable at $0.25 on or before 31 July 2014.

Notes to Financial Statements 
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20 Parent entity disclosure

The following details information related to the parent entity, Peak Resources Limited, at 30 June 2012. The information presented here 

has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in Note 2.

  

2012 2011

$ $

Financial position

Current assets 3,598,773 7,433,083

Non-current assets 28,256,472 4,527,678

Total assets 31,855,245 11,960,761

Current liabilities 894,632 457,450

Non-current liabilities - -

Total liabilities 894,632 457,450

Net assets 30,960,613 11,503,311

Equity

Contributed equity 42,119,258 20,146,408

Share based payment reserve 697,127 414,153

Accumulated losses (11,855,771) (9,057,250)

Total equity 30,960,613 11,503,311

Financial performance

Loss for the year (2,798,522) (2,137,106)

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year (2,798,522) (2,137,106)

No guarantees have been entered into by Peak Resources Limited in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries.

Peak Resources Limited had no commitments to purchase property, plant and equipment or contingent liabilities at year end.
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Directors’ Declaration
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Peak Resources Limited, I state that:

In the opinion of the directors:

(a)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable;

(b)  the attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as stated in note 2 to the 

financial statements;

(c)  the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with 

accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated entity;

The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

  

 

Richard Beazley

Managing Director

Perth, 28 September 2012
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Corporate Governance Statement
Peak is committed to implementing the highest standards of corporate governance.  In determining what those high standards should 

involve Peak has turned to the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice 

Recommendations.  Peak is pleased to advise that Peak’s practices are largely consistent with those ASX guidelines.  As consistency 

with the guidelines has been a gradual process, where Peak did not have certain policies or committees recommended by the ASX 

Corporate Governance Council (the Council) in place during the reporting period, we have identified such policies or committees.

Where Peak’s corporate governance practices do not correlate with the practices recommended by the Council, Peak is working 

towards compliance however it does not consider that all the practices are appropriate for Peak due to the size and scale of Company 

operations.

To illustrate where Peak has addressed each of the Council’s recommendations, a checklist is set out at the end of this report.  The 

table does not provide the full text of each recommendation but rather the topic covered.  Details of all of the recommendations can be 

found on the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s website at http://www.asx.com.au/supervision/governance/index.htm

1. Board of directors  

1.1 Role of the Board

The Board’s role is to govern Peak rather than to manage it.  In governing Peak, the Directors must act in the best interests of Peak as 

a whole.  It is the role of senior management to manage Peak in accordance with the direction and delegations of the Board and the 

responsibility of the Board to oversee the activities of management in carrying out these delegated duties.  

In carrying out its governance role, the main task of the Board is to drive the performance of Peak.  The Board must also ensure that 

Peak complies with all of its contractual, statutory and any other legal obligations, including the requirements of any regulatory body.  

The Board has the final responsibility for the successful operations of Peak. 

To assist the Board carry its functions, it has developed a Code of Conduct to guide the Directors, the Chief Financial Officer or its 

equivalent and other key executives in the performance of their roles.

1.2 Composition of the Board

To add value to Peak the Board has been formed so that it has effective composition, size and commitment to adequately discharge its 

responsibilities and duties given its current size and scale of operations.  Directors are appointed based on the specific skills required 

by Peak and on their decision-making and judgment skills.

Peak recognises the importance of Non-Executive Directors and the external perspective and advice that Non-Executive Directors can 

offer.  Mr Jonathan Murray is a Non-Executive Director and as an independent director he meets the following criteria for independence 

adopted by Peak:

An Independent Director is a Non-Executive Director and:

• is not a substantial shareholder of Peak or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial shareholder of Peak;

• within the last three years has not been employed in an executive capacity by Peak or another group member, or been a Director 

after ceasing to hold any such employment;

• has no material contractual relationship with Peak or other group member other than as a Director of Peak; has not served on the 

Board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the Director’s ability to act in the best 

interests of Peak; and

• is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere 

with the Director’s ability to act in the best interests of Peak.

Mr Alastair Hunter is the Non-executive Chairman of Peak and does not meet Peak’s criteria for independence.  Mr Richard Beazley 

and Mr David Hammond are Executive Directors and do not meet Peak’s criteria for independence. The Board considers that its current 

structure is appropriate given the Company’s stage of development and given the size, nature and scope of the Company’s activities. 

The Company considers industry experience and specific expertise to be important attributes of its Board members and therefore 

believes that the composition of the Board is appropriate given the size and development of the Company at the present time.
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1.3 Responsibilities of the Board

In general, the Board is responsible for, and has the authority to determine, all matters relating to the policies, practices, management 

and operations of Peak.  It is required to do all things that may be necessary to be done in order to carry out the objectives of Peak.  

Without intending to limit this general role of the Board, the principal functions and responsibilities of the Board include the following.  

• Leadership of the Organisation:  overseeing Peak and establishing codes that reflect the values of Peak and guide the conduct of 

the Board.

• Strategy Formulation: to set and review the overall strategy and goals for Peak and ensuring that there are policies in place to 

govern the operation of Peak.

• Overseeing Planning Activities: the development of Peak’s strategic plan.

• Shareholder Liaison: ensuring effective communications with shareholders through an appropriate communications policy and 

promoting participation at general meetings of Peak.

• Monitoring, Compliance and Risk Management: the development of Peak’s risk management, compliance, control and 

accountability systems and monitoring and directing the financial and operational performance of Peak.

• Company Finances: approving expenses and approving and monitoring acquisitions, divestitures and financial and other reporting.

• Human Resources:  appointing, and, where appropriate, removing the Non-executive Chairman and Executive Director and 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) as well as reviewing the performance of the Directors and monitoring the performance of senior 

management in their implementation of Peak’s strategy.

• Ensuring the Health, Safety and Well-Being of Employees: in conjunction with the senior management team, developing, overseeing 

and reviewing the effectiveness of Peak’s occupational health and safety systems to ensure the well-being of all employees.

• Delegation of Authority:  delegating appropriate powers to the Non-executive Chairman to ensure the effective day-to-day 

management of Peak and establishing and determining the powers and functions of the Committees of the Board.

Full details of the Board’s role and responsibilities are contained in the Board Charter, a copy of which is available for inspection at 

Peak’s registered office.

1.4 Board Policies

1.4.1 Conflicts of Interest

Directors must:

• disclose to the Board actual or potential conflicts of interest that may or might reasonably be thought to exist between the interests 

of the Director and the interests of any other parties in carrying out the activities of Peak; and 

• if requested by the Board, within seven days or such further period as may be permitted, take such necessary and reasonable 

steps to remove any conflict of interest.

If a Director cannot or is unwilling to remove a conflict of interest then the Director must, as per the Corporations Act, absent himself or 

herself from the room when discussion and/or voting occurs on matters about which the conflict relates.  

1.4.2 Commitments

Each member of the Board is committed to spending sufficient time to enable them to carry out their duties as a Director of Peak.

1.4.3 Confidentiality

In accordance with legal requirements and agreed ethical standards, Directors and key executives of Peak have agreed to keep 

confidential, information received in the course of the exercise of their duties and will not disclose non-public information except where 

disclosure is authorised or legally mandated.

1.4.4 Continuous Disclosure 

The Board has designated the Company Secretary as the person responsible for overseeing and coordinating disclosure of information 

to the ASX as well as communicating with the ASX.  In accordance with the ASX Listing Rules Peak immediately notifies the ASX of 

information:

• concerning Peak that a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the price or value of Peak’s securities; and

• that would, or would be likely to, influence persons who commonly invest in securities in deciding whether to acquire or dispose of 

Peak’s securities.

Corporate Governance Statement
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1.4.5 Education and Induction

It is the policy of Peak that a new Director undergoes an induction process in which they are given a full briefing on Peak.  Where 

possible this includes meetings with key executives, tour of the premises, an induction package and presentations.  Information 

conveyed to new Directors includes:

• details of the roles and responsibilities of a Director; 

• formal policies on Director appointment as well as conduct and contribution expectations; 

• access to a copy of the Board Charter;

• guidelines on how the Board processes function;

• details of past, recent and likely future developments relating to the Board;

• background information on and contact information for key people in the organisation;

• an analysis of Peak; 

• a synopsis of the current strategic direction of Peak; and

• a copy of the Constitution of Peak.

In order to achieve continuing improvement in Board performance, all Directors are encouraged to undergo continual professional 

development.  Specifically, Directors are provided with the resources and training to address skills gaps where they are identified.  

1.4.6 Independent Professional Advice

The Board collectively and each Director has the right to seek independent professional advice at Peak’s expense, up to specified 

limits, to assist them to carry out their responsibilities. 

1.4.7 Related Party Transactions

Related party transactions include any financial transaction between a Director and Peak. Unless there is an exemption under the 

Corporations Act from the requirement to obtain shareholder approval for the related party transaction, the Board cannot approve the 

transaction. 

1.4.8 Shareholder Communication

Peak respects the rights of its shareholders and to facilitate the effective exercise of those rights Peak is committed to:

• communicating effectively with shareholders through releases to the market via ASX, information mailed to shareholders, 

information posted on Peak’s website and the general meetings of Peak;

• giving shareholders ready access to balanced and understandable information about Peak and corporate proposals; 

• making it easy for shareholders to participate in general meetings of Peak; and

• requesting the external auditor to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions about the 

conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.  

Peak also makes available a telephone number and email address for shareholders to make enquiries of Peak.  

1.4.9 Trading in Company Shares

The share trading policy sets out Peak’s policy regarding the trading in Company securities, which includes shares, options, warrants, 

debentures and any other security on issue from time to time.  This policy is separate from and additional to the legal constraints 

imposed by the common law, the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules.  

This policy applies to all Directors and employees of Peak and their associates (including spouses, children, family trusts and family 

companies) as well as contractors, consultants, advisers and auditors of Peak (“designated officers”).

1.4.10 Performance Review/Evaluation

It is the policy of the Board to conduct evaluation of its performance and that of its senior executives.  The objective of this evaluation 

will be to provide best practice corporate governance to Peak.  

1.4.11 Attestations by Managing Director and CFO

It is the Board’s policy that the Managing Director and the CFO or its equivalent make the attestations recommended by the ASX 

Corporate Governance Council as to Peak financial condition prior to the Board signing the Annual Report. 

The Board will also require the Managing Director and CFO or its equivalent to attest to the implementation and compliance to Peak’s 

internal control and risk management strategies and to ensure that these policies are being managed effectively.
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2. Board committees

2.1 Audit Committee

Due to the size and scale of operations of Peak the full Board undertakes the role of the Audit Committee.  Below is a summary of the 

role and responsibilities of an Audit Committee.  

2.1.1 Role 

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the integrity of Peak’s financial reporting and overseeing the independence of the 

external auditors.  

As the whole Board only consists of four (4) members, Peak does not have an audit committee because it would not be a more efficient 

mechanism than the full Board for focusing Peak on specific issues and an audit committee cannot be justified based on a cost-benefit 

analysis.  However, in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, Peak is moving towards establishing an audit committee consisting 

primarily of Independent Directors.

In the absence of an audit committee, the Board sets aside time to deal with issues and responsibilities usually delegated to the audit 

committee to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of Peak and the independence of the external auditor.

2.1.2 Responsibilities

The Audit Committee, or as at the date of this report the full Board of Peak, reviews the audited annual and half-yearly financial 

statements and any reports which accompany published financial statements and recommends their approval to the members. 

The Audit Committee, or as at the date of this report the full Board of Peak, each year reviews the appointment of the external auditor, 

their independence, the audit fee, and any questions of resignation or dismissal.

The Audit Committee, or as at the date of this report the full Board of Peak, is also responsible for establishing policies on risk oversight 

and management.

2.1.3 Risk Management Policies

The Board’s Charter clearly establishes that it is responsible for ensuring there is a sound system for overseeing and managing risk. 

As the whole Board only consists of four (4) members, Peak does not have a Risk Management Committee because it would not be a 

more efficient mechanism than the full Board for focusing Peak on specific issues.

2.2 Remuneration Committee

2.2.1 Role

The role of a Remuneration Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in respect of establishing appropriate 

remuneration levels and incentive policies for employees.

As the whole Board only consists of three (3) members, Peak does not have a remuneration committee because it would not be a more 

efficient mechanism than the full Board for focusing Peak on specific issues.  

2.2.2 Responsibilities

The responsibilities of a Remuneration Committee, or the full Board, include setting policies for senior officers’ remuneration, setting 

the terms and conditions of employment for the Non-executive Chairman and Director, reviewing and making recommendations to 

the Board on Peak’s incentive schemes and superannuation arrangements, reviewing the remuneration of both Executive and Non-

Executive Directors and making recommendations on any proposed changes and undertaking reviews of the Non-executive Chairman 

and Directors performance, including, setting goals and reviewing progress in achieving those goals.

2.2.3 Remuneration Policy 

Directors’ Remuneration for the majority of directors was approved at a Board meeting held in August 2006. Directors’ remuneration is 

also reviewed on an annual basis.

2.2.3.1 Senior Executive Remuneration Policy

Peak is committed to remunerating its senior executives in a manner that is market-competitive and consistent with best practice as well 

as supporting the interests of shareholders.  Consequently, under the Senior Executive Remuneration Policy the remuneration of 

senior executive may be comprised of the following:

• fixed salary that is determined from a review of the market and reflects core performance requirements and expectations;

• a performance bonus designed to reward actual achievement by the individual of performance objectives and for materially 

improved Company performance;

• participation in any share/option scheme with thresholds approved by shareholders;  

• statutory superannuation.  
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By remunerating senior executives through performance and long-term incentive plans in addition to their fixed remuneration Peak aims 

to align the interests of senior executives with those of shareholders and increase Company performance.

The value of shares and options were they to be granted to senior executives would be calculated using the Black and Scholes method.

The objective behind using this remuneration structure is to drive improved Company performance and thereby increase shareholder 

value as well as aligning the interests of executives and shareholders.  

The Board may use its discretion with respect to the payment of bonuses, stock options and other incentive payments.  

2.2.3.2 Non-Executive Director Remuneration Policy

Non-Executive Directors are to be paid their fees out of the maximum aggregate amount approved by shareholders for the 

remuneration of Non-Executive Directors.  Non-Executive Directors do not receive performance based bonuses, however they do 

participate in equity schemes of Peak.  

Non-Executive Directors are not paid superannuation. 

2.2.4.2 Current Director Remuneration

Full details regarding the remuneration of Directors, is included in the Directors’ Report.

2.3 Nomination Committee

2.3.1 Role

The role of a Nomination Committee is to help achieve a structured Board that adds value to Peak by ensuring an appropriate mix of 

skills are present in Directors on the Board at all times.

As the whole Board only consists of four (4) members, Peak does not have a nomination committee because it would not be a more 

efficient mechanism than the full Board for focusing Peak on specific issues.  

2.3.2 Responsibilities

The responsibilities of a Nomination Committee would include devising criteria for Board membership, regularly reviewing the need for 

various skills and experience on the Board and identifying specific individuals for nomination as Directors for review by the Board.  The 

Nomination Committee would also oversee management succession plans including the Non-executive Chairman and his/her direct 

reports and evaluate the Board’s performance and make recommendations for the appointment and removal of Directors. Currently the 

Board as a whole performs this role.

2.3.3 Criteria for selection of Directors

Directors are appointed based on the specific governance skills required by Peak.  Given the size of Peak and the business that 

it operates, Peak aims at all times to have at least two Directors with experience appropriate to Peak’s target market.  In addition, 

Directors should have the relevant blend of personal experience in accounting and financial management and Director-level business 

experience.

3. company code of conduct

The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct which applies to all directors and officers of Peak. It sets out Peak’s commitment to 

successfully conducting the business in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations while demonstrating and promoting the 

highest ethical standards.

4. diversity Policy

The board is primarily responsible for setting achievable objectives on gender diversity and monitoring the progress of Peak towards 

them on an annual basis. Due to the size and scale of operations of Peak, the board has determined that a long term gender diversity 

objective is more appropriate. 

Peak does not currently have any women holding positions at board level, however, the role of CFO and Company Secretary is held by 

a female, Linda Paini during the year ended 30 June 2012, and by Farlee Walker as of 14 August 2012.

Corporate Governance Statement



 57

The checklist below summarises Peak’s compliance with the Recommendations.

Principles Recommendations
Compliance 

Yes/No
Reference and 

Explanation

Pr 1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

Rec 1.1
Companies should establish the functions reserved to the board and those 
delegated to senior executives and disclose the functions.

Yes 1.1

Rec 1.2
Companies should disclose the process for evaluation the performance of 
senior executives.

Yes 1.4.5 and 1.4.10

Rec 1.3
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting to Principle 1.

Yes 1.1

Pr 2 structure the board to add value

Rec 2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors. No 1.2

Rec 2.2 The Chairman should be an independent director. No 1.2

Rec 2.3
The roles of chairman and chief executive officer should not be exercised by 
the same individual.

No 1.2

Rec 2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee No 2.3.1

Rec 2.5
Companies should disclose the process of evaluating the performance of 
the board, its committees and individual directors.

Yes 1.4.10

Rec 2.6
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting to Principle 2

Yes
1.2, 1.4.10  
and 2.3.1

Pr 3 Promote ethical and responsible decision making

Rec 3.1

Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a 
summary of the code as to:

- the practices necessary to maintain confidence in Peak’s integrity

-the practices necessary to take account of their legal obligations and 
reasonable expectations of their stakeholders; and

-the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and 
investigating reports of unethical practices.

Yes 3

Rec 3.2

Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the 
policy or a summary of that policy. The policy should include requirements 
for the board to establish measureable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity and for the board to assess annually both the objectives and 
progress in achieving them.

Yes 4

Rec 3.3
Companies should disclose in each annual report the measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the board in accordance 
with the diversity policy and progress towards achieving them.

Yes 4.1

Rec 3.4
Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of women 
employees in the whole organisation, women in senior executive positions 
and women on the board.

Yes 4.1

Rec 3.5
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 3.

Yes 3 and 4

Pr 4 safeguard integrity in financial reporting

Rec 4.1 The board should establish an audit committee. No 2.1

Rec 4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it: No 2.1

- consists only of non-executive directors;

- consists of a majority of independent directors;

- is chaired by an independent chair, who is not the chair of the board; and

- has at least three members.

Rec 4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter. Yes 2.1

Rec 4.4
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 4.

Yes 2.1
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Pr 5 Make timely and balanced disclosure

Rec 5.1

Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure 
accountability at a senior level for that compliance and disclose those 
policies or a summary of those policies.

Yes 1.4.4

Rec 5.2
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 5.

Yes 1.4.4

Pr 6 Respect the rights of shareholders

Rec 6.1
Companies should design a communications policy for promoting effective 
communication with shareholders and encouraging their participation at 
general meetings and disclose their policy or a summary of that policy.

Yes 1.4.8

Rec 6.2
Company should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 
on Principle 6.

Yes 1.4.8

Pr 7 Recognise and manage risk

Rec 7.1
Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of 
material business risks and disclose a summary of those policies.

Yes 2.1.3

Rec 7.2

The board should require management to design and implement the 
risk management and internal control system to manage Peak’s material 
business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being managed 
effectively. The board should disclose that management has reported to it 
as to the effectiveness of Peak’s management of its material business risks.

Yes 2.1.3

Rec 7.3

The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the 
non-executive chairman (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or 
equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A 
of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management 
and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all 
material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

Yes 1.4.11

Rec 7.4
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 7.

Yes 1.4.11 and 2.1.3

Pr 8 Remuneration fairly and responsibly

Rec 8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee. No 2.2.1

Rec 8.2

The remuneration committee should be structured so that it:

- consists of a majority of independent directors

- is chaired by an independent director

- has at least three members

No
2.2.3.1 and 

2.2.3.2

Rec 8.2
Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive 
directors’ remuneration from that of executive directors and senior 
executives.

Yes
2.2.3.1 and 
2.2.3.2

Rec 8.3
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 8.

Yes 2.2 and 2.2.3

Principles Recommendations
Compliance 

Yes/No
Reference and 

Explanation
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Tenement Schedule

Project Tenement % status Arrangement/Comment

Australian Projects

Menzies L 29/61 100 Granted

Menzies ML 29/189 100 Granted

Tanzanian Projects

Ngualla PL 6079/2009 100 Granted Acquired on 22nd February 2012 in the acquisition  

of 100% of the share capital of Zari Exploration.

Unless otherwise stated tenements are held by or on behalf of Peak Resources Limited.
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Additional Shareholder Information

Quoted security distribution

The distribution of members and their holdings of quoted equity securities in the company as at 26 September 2012 were as follows:

Class of Equity securities

Number Held as at  26 september 2012 Fully Paid Ordinary shares

1-1,000   164

1,001 - 5,000   533

5,001 – 10,000   494

10,001 - 100,000 1,619

100,001 and over   373

Total 3,183

Holders of less than a marketable parcel:- fully paid shares  437

Class of Equity securities

Number Held as at  26 september 2012 PEKO*

1-1,000   0

1,001 - 5,000   0

5,001 – 10,000   0

10,001 - 100,000 316

100,001 and over   72

Total 388

*PEKO are quoted options exercisable at $0.25 on or before 31 July 2014

Holders of less than a marketable parcel:- PEKO  65

Substantial Security holders

Substantial shareholders listed in the Company’s register as at 26 September 2012 were:

Holder Number of shares Percentage of issued capital

JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA  LIMITED 16,337,257 6.41%

   

Substantial PEKO option holders listed in the Company’s register as at 26 September 2012 were: 

Holder Number of options Percentage of PEKO on issue

PERSHING AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD 6,625,231 13.91%

MAZZDEL PTY LIMITED 2,550,000 5.36%
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Unquoted Securities

Class of Equity security Number Number of security Holders

$0.60 options expiring 16 May 2013   500,000 1

$1.00 options expiring 26 May 2013   500,000 1

$1.50 options expiring 26 May2014 1,000,000 1

$0.60 options expiring 16 May 2015   750,000 1

$0.90 options expiring 16 May 2015   750,000 1

$1.20 options expiring 16 May 2015   750,000 1

$0.75 options expiring 24 February 2014 541,667 1

$0.55 options expiring 20 February 2017 6,250,000 1

$0.55 options expiring 3 March 2018 150,000 1

Names of persons holding greater than 20% of a class of unquoted securities:

Class of Equity security Number Holder

$0.60 options expiring 16 May 2013 500,000 Brian Lloyd

$1.00 options expiring 26 May 2013 500,000 Brian Lloyd

$1.50 options expiring 26 May2014 1,000,000 Brian Lloyd

$0.60 options expiring 16 May 2015 750,000 David Hammond

$0.90 options expiring 16 May 2015 750,000 David Hammond

$1.20 options expiring 16 May 2015 750,000 David Hammond

$0.75 options expiring 24 February 2014 541,667 Roth Capital Partners LLC

$0.55 options expiring 20 February 2017 6,250,000 Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd

$0.55 options expiring 3 March 2018 150,000 Mzhci LLC

Voting Rights

Ordinary Shares

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, on a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy or attorney or 

duly authorised representative has one vote.  On a poll every member present in person or by proxy or attorney or duly authorised 

representative has one vote for every fully paid ordinary share held.
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Twenty largest shareholders as at 26th September 2012

Name
Number Held of Ordinary Fully 

Paid shares 

% Held of Issued Ordinary 

Capital

JP Morgan Nominees Australia  Limited 16,337,257 6.41%

National Nominees Limited 9,551,720 3.75%

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 4,523,279 1.78%

Wisevest Pty Ltd 4,088,235 1.60%

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 3,628,984 1.42%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 3,548,257 1.39%

Ashabia Pty Ltd 3,279,542 1.29%

Scottish Caledonian Pty Ltd 3,274,494 1.29%

Buell Pty Ltd 3,138,198 1.23%

Yarandi Investments Pty Ltd 2,927,735 1.15%

Forth-Clyde Investments Pty   Ltd 2,636,299 1.03%

Mazzdel Pty Limited 2,550,000 1.00%

HSBC Custody Nominees   (Australia) Limited 2,103,053 0.83%

Suvale Nominees Pty Ltd 1,950,000 0.77%

Mr Paul Francis Parsonson & Mrs Josephine Margaret Parsonson 1,925,000 0.76%

Saga Trading Pty Ltd 1,800,000 0.71%

Michael Bushell 1,788,889 0.70%

RM Corporate Pty Ltd 1,715,811 0.67%

BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd 1,712,768 0.67%

Mr Michael Bushell 1,661,290 0.65%

Total 74,140,811 29.11%

Note: Information in the above schedule is based on data recorded in the Company’s Share Register on the date noted. A listed holder may hold shareholdings or 
hold an associated shareholding in addition to those listed above. The data provided is solely attributable to a HIN or SRN particular to that holding and as such may 
not necessarily represent the total of all holdings of the shareholder noted or their associates.
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Twenty largest option holders as at 26 September 2012

Name
Number Held of  

PEKO options 

% Held of Issued  

PEKO options

Pershing Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 6,625,231 13.91%

Mazzdel Pty Limited 2,550,000 5.36%

National Nominees Limited 1,610,286 3.38%

All States Finance Pty Limited 1,475,000 3.09%

Onmell Pty Ltd 1,325,000 2.78%

Rask Pty Ltd 1,254,382 2.64%

Elinora Investments Pty Ltd 1,200,000 2.52%

ABN Amro Clearing Sydney Nominees Pty Ltd 938,235 1.97%

Mr Frank Poullas 811,361 1.70%

Mrs Janine Louise Beazley 708,751 1.49%

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 706,912 1.48%

Wisevest Pty Ltd 644,142 1.35%

Ajava Holdings Pty Ltd 600,000 1.26%

Dirdot Pty Limited 540,000 1.13%

Mr James Antony Silverton 382,358 0.80%

Mr Allan Zion 360,000 0.76%

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 314,119 0.66%

MF Custodians Ltd 300,000 0.63%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 298,838 0.63%

Mr David Zalmon Baffsky 296,000 0.62%

Total       22,940,615  48.16%

Note: Information in the above schedule is based on data recorded in the Company’s Register on the date noted. A listed holder may hold shareholdings or hold 
an associated shareholding in addition to those listed above. The data provided is solely attributable to a HIN or SRN particular to that holding and as such may not 
necessarily represent the total of all holdings of the shareholder noted or their associates.
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Corporate Directory

directors

Alastair Hunter Non-Executive Chairman

Richard Beazley Managing Director

David Hammond Technical Director

Jonathan Murray Non-Executive Director                                  

coMPaNy secretary

Farlee Walker

registered office

Level 2, 46 Ord Street

West Perth WA 6005

coNtact details

Website:   www.peakresources.com.au

Email:   info@peakresources.com.au

Telephone: (08) 9200 5360

Facsimile:  (08) 9226 3831

stocK exchaNge listiNg

Australian securities Exchange Limited 

Home Exchange: Perth, Western Australia

Code: PEK

OTCQX

New York, USA

Code: PKRLY

solicitors

Australia

steinepreis Paganin

The Read Building

Level 4, 16 Milligan Street

Perth  WA  6000

Tanzania

Ako Law

11th Floor, Exim Tower, Ghana Avenue

Dar es Salaam

Tanzania

auditors

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Woodside Plaza

Level 14, 240 St Georges Terrace

Perth  WA 6000

share registry

Link Market services Limited

Level 12, 

680 George Street

Sydney NSW 2000 
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